

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Small Business Social Media Marketing Strategies in the Retail Industry

Mari E. Mew Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Mass Communication Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Mari E. Mew

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Beverly Muhammad, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Jorge Gaytan, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Carol-Anne Faint, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Small Business Social Media Marketing Strategies in the Retail Industry

by

Mari E. Mew

MS, Central Michigan University, 2000

BS, University of South Carolina, 1983

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2020

Abstract

Many small business owners lack social media marketing (SMM) strategies to generate sales growth. Small business owners are concerned with increasing sales growth to ensure sustainability. Grounded in Rogers' diffusion of innovation theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore SMM strategies some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales. The participants comprised 3 small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry in South Carolina with successful experience using SMM strategies to generate sales growth. Data were collected from semistructured interviews, archival organizational documentation, and physical artifacts. Yin's 5-step analysis process guided the data analysis. The following 3 themes emerged: social media platforms, the SMM impact, and customer relationship management. A key recommendation is for small business owners to use Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram social media platforms to reach customers and receive immediate feedback. The implications for positive social change include the potential for business owners to increase their ability to implement SMM campaigns to generate sales growth. Higher sales may lead to more profit, which could be used to make donations to community-based social programs.

Small Business Social Media Marketing Strategies in the Retail Industry

by

Mari E. Mew

MS, Central Michigan University, 2000 BS, University of South Carolina, 1983

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2020

Dedication

To God, be the glory. I dedicate this doctoral study to my late beloved mother, who went to be with the Lord before I could complete this study. You sacrificed so much so that I could follow my dreams of becoming a doctor. I owe everything to you because I know you have been my guardian angel through this last hurdle of my journey. I am forever grateful to you, and I will always love you for a lifetime.

Acknowledgments

First, I acknowledge my Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ, for giving me the strength and guiding me through this most challenging endeavor in my life and on this journey. I am most grateful to my chair, Dr. Beverly C. Muhammad, whose guidance and direction helped me realize my dreams. Her expertise and attention to detail facilitated me to refine my thoughts and to stay focused. I would also like to thank Dr. Jorge A. Gaytan for his reassurance and valued feedback throughout the process. I would also like to thank the faculty, staff, and fellow scholars who have been positive driving forces and a source of motivation on this DBA journey. I also acknowledge my family for believing in me. I acknowledge and give special thanks to my mentors, friends, my pastor, and his wife for their continued prayers. I also want to recognize my prayer warriors Uncle William, Ronnel, Queen, Lucille, and my church family. Thank you all for your patience, dedication, guidance, and encouragement.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	2
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	6
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
Assumptions	8
Limitations	8
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Application to the Applied Business Problem	12
Diffusion of Innovation Theory	13
Critical Analysis of Supporting and Contrasting Theories and Models	23

Importance of Small Businesses	28
Forecasting	42
Customer Relationship Management	43
Transition	4
Section 2: The Project	45
Purpose Statement	45
Role of the Researcher	45
Participants	49
Research Method and Design	51
Research Method	51
Research Design	52
Population and Sampling	54
Ethical Research	56
Data Collection Instrument	58
Data Collection Technique	60
Data Organization Technique	65
Data Analysis	66
Reliability and Validity	69
Reliability	69
Validity	7 1
Transition and Summary	73
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	7/

	Introduction	74
	Presentation of the Findings	74
	Emergent Theme 1: Social Media Platforms	77
	Emergent Theme 2: The Impact of Social Media Marketing	86
	Emergent Theme 3: Customer Relationship Management	93
	Applications to Professional Practice	99
	Implications for Social Change	101
	Recommendations for Action	102
	Recommendations for Further Research	103
	Reflections	104
	Conclusion	104
Re	eferences	108
Aŗ	ppendix A: Interview Protocol	144
Ar	opendix B: Interview Questions	146

List of Tables

Table 1. Source-Types and Statistics for References	
Tuble 1. Bource 1 ypes and Blatistics for References	

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small businesses play a key role in the U.S. economy. A small business is an independent business with fewer than 500 employees. An estimated 30.2 million small businesses operate in the United States (U.S. Small Business Administration [SBA], 2018). However, approximately 50% of small businesses fail within first 5 years of operations (SBA, 2018). Small businesses represent 99.9% of all employers' businesses and employ 47.5% of the private labor force (SBA, 2018). The number of small businesses has increased, as business owners engage and attract new customers.

Social media is an online platform for small businesses to market and brand their products or services and to manage customer relationships (He, Wang, Chen, & Zha, 2017). Business leaders, owners, and managers use social media to communicate with their customers and build social relationships and other businesses to increase social capital. He et al. (2017) posited that social media provides small businesses owners an opportunity to increase sales, improve customers' relationships, and enhance brand awareness. Shabbir, Ghazi, and Mehmood (2017) commented that social media can create a long-term relationship between businesses and customers. Small business owners face challenges when implementing social media because they can lack resources and an understanding on effective social media adoption (He et al., 2017). Some small business owners lack the ability to accurately measure the effectiveness of social media because they are accustomed to communicating with customers through word-of-mouth (WOM). Small business owners could use social media as a gateway to make profit and grow their businesses (Shabbir et al., 2017). The focus of this qualitative, multiple case study was to

explore the (SMM) strategies that some small business owners use to generate growth in sales.

Background of the Problem

Some small business owners use SMM to engage with their customers and build social relationships with customers. Small business leaders can use SMM to promote their business and to gain visibility, viability, and sustainability to survive and remain competitive (Taneja & Toombs, 2014). Most competition for small business comes from the Internet; therefore, to achieve a competitive advantage, small business leaders must understand and use social media effectively (Go & You, 2016). Although small businesses are beginning to use social media to gain competitive advantage and social relationships, leaders still face challenges such as formulating social media strategies, and how social media affects an organization's strategy and practices. However, social media will impact over traditional methods of marketing in terms of networking, online branding opportunities, and business exposure.

Problem Statement

Social media is an effective tool to generate growth in sales, but small businesses are not embracing the opportunity to apply SMM strategies (Epstein, 2018; Kwayu, Lai, & Abubakre, 2018). Moreover, 77% of small businesses owners use social media to generate growth in sales (Elena, 2016; SBA, 2018). The general business problem is that some small businesses are not effectively leveraging social media in their marketing strategies. The specific business problem addressed in this study is that some small

business owners in the women's retail apparel industry lack SMM strategies to generate growth in sales.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales. The target population included three small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry in South Carolina who had successfully used SMM strategies to generate growth in sales for 5 years. Small businesses could use the results of this study to increase the return on investment for business owners, which could increase local community's tax base to improve social programs. Positive social change can also result from increased employment to stimulate the local economies from growth in sales.

Nature of the Study

I used the qualitative method for this study. Yin (2018a) stated that qualitative researchers search for trends in the context of their studies. Qualitative researchers also explore phenomena or experiences in a specific context (Vohra, 2014). I used the qualitative methodology research to determine the *why* and *how* of the research process. I also used qualitative research methodology to collect data through interviews, archival documents, and physical artifacts to answer the overarching research question. The qualitative method was appropriate for this study to explore SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales.

The quantitative method consists of developing hypotheses for testing relationships and differences among variables (Ma, 2015). I did not use the quantitative method because I did not wish to examine data using statistical analysis. Researchers use the mixed-methods approach to gather qualitative and quantitative data to interpret findings based on the strengths of both methods to explore and examine phenomena in depth (Archibald, 2016; Snelson, 2016). In this study, I did not use experiments or investigating processes. Therefore, the mixed-methods approach was not appropriate for this study.

Principle qualitative designs include ethnography, phenomenology, narrative, and case studies. Ethnographers study a group that shares a common culture (Leedy & Ormrod, 2014), which was not the focus of this study. Phenomenological researchers study the meanings of lived experiences of participants (Moustakas, 1994). I explored the SMM strategies used by the participants, not the personal meanings of their lived experiences; therefore, phenomenology was not an appropriate design for this study. Narrative researchers study the meanings of people's stories (Berry, 2016; Haydon, Browne, & van der Riet, 2017). Because I did not collect the life stories of individuals, the narrative design was not appropriate. Yin (2018a) proposed that *what* questions are appropriate for exploratory research. I investigated what SMM strategies some small business owners in the women's retail apparel use to generate growth in sales. Using a qualitative case study involved the establishment of a case and research questions (Hyett, Kenny, & Dickson-Swift, 2014; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I used three cases, or units,

to identify and explore the SMM strategies that small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales.

Research Question

The overarching research question for this qualitative, multiple case study was as follows: What SMM strategies do some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales?

Interview Questions

I used the interview questions below in semistructured, face-to-face interviews with small business owners to collect data.

- 1. What led you to start using social media?
- 2. How did you customize your SMM strategies to generate growth in sales?
- 3. How does SMM fit into your marketing mix?
- 4. What other SMM strategic processes and tools do you use to generate growth in sales?
- 5. How did you use social media to contribute to improving your SMM strategies?
- 6. What trends do you see in the role of SMM in your business shopping experience?
- 7. How do customers make purchases from your business, for instance, do they approach your products from an online platform, or do they drop into the store?
- 8. How have alternative shopping behaviors impacted your storefront success?

- 9. What sets your business apart from other women's apparel businesses both locally and online?
- 10. How do you strategize and gain customers' loyalty?
- 11. What additional information would you like to share regarding your successful SMM strategies that I did not ask?

Conceptual Framework

I used diffusion of innovation theory (DOI) theory as the conceptual lens through which to view and lay the foundation for this study. Rogers developed the DOI theory in 1962. The four constructs for DOI theory are innovation, communication channels, time, and implementation (Rogers, 1962; Salman & Hasim, 2011). Rogers (2003) explained that DOI theory is the interpersonal communication relationship of the way that business owners use innovation and technology. Based on the DOI theory, Salman and Hasim (2011) proposed that small business owners be cautious when adopting innovation and technology, even when doing so may have advantages to improve the innovation process. Small business owners used the DOI to explain the SMM strategies that were beneficial to them when adopting social media to generate growth in sales. The DOI theory was used as a lens in answering the overarching research question and understanding the findings from the study.

Operational Definitions

Certain terms used in my study may not have the same meanings for all readers; therefore, I defined how these terms were used in this study as follows:

Disruptive technology: Disruptive technology is a technology that changes the bases of competition by changing the performance metrics thus changing the way firms compete (Danneels, 2004).

Small business: Small businesses in the United States are privately or publicly owned, independent businesses, having fewer than 500 employees and net profits totaling less than \$7.5 million in annual receipts (SBA, 2018).

Social media: Social media is an Internet-based marketing tool that buyers and sellers use to communicate information through sharing (Agnihotri, Dingus, Hu, & Krush, 2016).

User-generated content (UGC): UGC is the innovative way that people watch video and TV, with millions of video producers and consumers (Liu, Burns, & Hou, 2017). UGC is also a source of data shared through social media platforms (Liu et al., 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

This section includes the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations that has impacted the outcome of this qualitative, multiple case study. As the researcher, I accepted certain assumptions. Bendle and Cotte (2016) and Yin (2018a) stated that assumptions are facts the researcher assume are true but cannot verify. Limitations refer to the potential weaknesses of the study that the researcher has no control over (Simon & Goes, 2013). Delimitations are the boundaries imposed by the researcher when defining the scope of the study (Yin, 2018a). I set delimitations before beginning this qualitative, multiple case study to limit the study's scope. As the researcher, I defined the

assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of this study so that I can identify the issues that could affect the validity of the research process.

Assumptions

I made four assumptions in this study. I assumed that participants would answer the interview questions truthfully throughout the interview process. I also assumed that the research participants represented only small business owners with at least 5 years of experience in the retail apparel industry. Another assumption was that the interview questions selected would address the business problem of the study. The fourth assumption was that the selected cases, primarily small businesses located in South Carolina, was appropriate to address the purpose of the study.

Limitations

I identified four limitations in this study. The first limitation was that the participants might not want to share their experiences openly. The second limitation was that the study had a sample size of three small business owners, which may limit the generalizability of the study results. The third limitation was that the participants may not have been fully engaged when answering the interview questions during the interview process. Yin (2018a) stated that case study researchers are susceptible to bias if the researcher has knowledge or experience related to the problem of the study. To mitigate bias, I followed a prescribed interview protocol and confirmed their meaning and interpretation after each participant interview. Also, I asked to follow-up questions during and after the interview process to ensure clarity of information and preclude bias.

Delimitations

I identified five delimitations in this study. The first was that participants are successful small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry who use SMM to market their business. The second delimitation was that the geographical location included only small business owners in South Carolina. The third delimitation was that I only studied small businesses owners who used successful SMM strategies to generate growth in sales. The fourth delimitation was small businesses owners who were operational for at least 5 years. The final delimitation for this study was the sample size of three small business owners. According to Yin (2018a), researchers might use a small sample size in a qualitative research because more time is needed to collect qualitative data.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Small business owners could use the findings from this study to improve their businesses. Almost 50% of small businesses close within the first 5 years of operations (SBA, 2018). However, 77% of small business owners use social media to enhance growth in sales in the United States (SBA, 2018). Since the mid-2000s, social media has evolved, and scholars and practitioners are interested in how small business owners use social media to understand markets (Atanassova & Clark, 2015; Roy, Dionne, Maxwell, Carson, & Sosa, 2018). Small businesses may use the findings from this study to improve their practices by identifying the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales. Business owners can use

social media to connect with customers and bring value to companies and local communities. By using social media, business owners could see a new way of doing business, based on innovative concepts such as sharing and collaboration (Jiang, Tadikamalla, Shang, & Zhao, 2016). Small business leaders could also use SMM tools to improve the speed and frequency of communication with their customers. However, the use of social media does not mean that small business owners profitably use them to develop a successful business strategy. If small businesses owners adopt social media, it could be the implementation of a virtual community where businesses, suppliers, and customers can communicate, collaborate, coproduce, and improve products and services.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for social change include the potential for business owners to increase their ability to implement SMM campaigns. Contributions from the study may also help business owners generate sales growth globally, and some business owners may support their local community social programs. Business owners could use the results of this study to contribute to positive social change by increasing economic revenues for communities and opportunities for brick and mortar businesses to remain competitive to allow for job opportunities of college students.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The literature review contains a collection of researchers' scholarly studies (Nortvig & Christiansen, 2017). In the literature review, I provided some current SMM research findings and trends in SMM strategies. The literature review was relevant to the central research question, and I focused on the conceptual framework, business problem,

research question, and purpose statement. The literature review consisted of peerreviewed articles, books, government sources, and other scholarly sources.

I organized this literature review into four categories: (a) published relevant conceptual and empirical works, (b) critical analysis and synthesis of the conceptual framework, (c) critical analysis and synthesis of other theorists who used DOI theory, and (d) critical analysis and synthesis of supporting and contrasting theories. In this literature review, I discuss literature about SMM strategies and elaborated on background information of different methods, tools, and strategies used for SMM to generate growth in sales. I also discuss how some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use SMM strategies to generate growth in sales.

I gathered sources for this literature review using the following research tools: ABI/INFORM Complete, Business Source Complete, Emerald Insight, EBSCOhost, Google Scholar, Google Scholar alerts, ProQuest, Zotero, Emerald Management, and Sage Journals. I used the following research terms for the searches: *case study*, *conceptual framework, small business owners, social media, SMM strategies, small business owners, marketing, retail apparel industry, social media networking (SMN), sales growth, sales forecast,* and *small business*.

I limited my search to scholarly peer-reviewed journals, cited seminal works, books, government websites, and dissertations, as well as other materials published within the 2015-2019 period. The study contains 258 references, of which 238 (92%) are peer-reviewed, and 154(65%) have publication dates within the period of 2015 to 2019, which is the expected date of receiving approval from Walden University's chief

academic officer. The literature review subsection contains 130 peer-reviewed full-text articles, of which 117 (90%) are peer-reviewed and 90 (67%) were published within the 2015-2019 period. Table1 contains the summary of source-types and related statistics for this study literature review.

Table 1

Source-Types and Statistics for References

Type of resources		< 5 years 2019	> 5 years 2019	% total < 5 years
Peer-reviewed articles	237	138	100	58%
Other sources: Dissertations or books or government websites	21	16	4	76%
Total resources	258	154	104	60%

Application to the Applied Business Problem

I researched studies relevant to the importance of small businesses, and I analyzed challenges of small businesses, marketing, social media, sales forecasting, and innovations. In the DOI theory, Rogers (1962) explained the process by which business leaders adopt innovation, technology, products, or services. By using the DOI theory, researchers can identify how innovators and early adopters used social media to communicate the saturation of technology or innovation (Rogers, 2003). For this study, I explored the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales in South Carolina. However, it is difficult

to evaluate small business owners' attitudes and the way they use social media. Most small businesses do not embrace social media; however, small businesses' growth and development help to develop new products, acquire new market shares, and gain new competitive advantages (Cesaroni & Consoli, 2015).

The DOI theory provided an appropriate framework to explore the SMM strategies that small business owners use to generate growth in sales (see Rogers, 2003). Business leaders use social media to promote relationships on websites and to generate growth in sales through the diffusion of innovation (Rogers, 2003). Business owners also use social media to disseminate marketing messages to reach more customers (Rogers, 2003; Scott & McGuire, 2017).

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales. The target population included three small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry in South Carolina who have successfully used SMM strategies to generate growth in sales for at least 5 years. Small businesses could use the results of this study to increase the local community's tax base to improve social programs and the standard of living for all citizens. In addition, positive social change can result from increased employment to stimulate local economies from growth in sales and initiative of economic development and community relations.

Diffusion of Innovation Theory

The DOI theory was the conceptual framework for this study. Rogers developed the DOI theory in 1995 to describe the process by which business leaders adopt a new

idea, product, or philosophy. Scholars use the DOI to understand the process of creating an innovative idea, product, practice, or belief that migrates from creation to use through communication channels over time among members of a social system (Rogers, 2003; Scott & McGuire, 2017). Scholars have studied diffusion as the spread of ideas and products since the early 19th century (Rogers, 2003; Scott & McGuire, 2017). As outlined in the DOI theory, diffusion occurs in stages, and the process develops over time.

The DOI theory is an older social science theory. Scholars continue to use this theory in innovation adoption studies. Researchers have used the DOI theory in over half a million studies (Rogers, 2003; Thambiah, Eze, Santhapparaj, & Arumugam, 2011). Scholars have used the DOI theory in numerous fields, such as technology, banking, education, social media, behavior and perceptions, and business to understand how people translate new ideas into real-world applications. Scholars use the DOI theory to explain how, why, and at what rate of adoption an innovation or technology spreads through cultures (Oliveira & Martins, 2011; Scott & McGuire, 2017). Hornik (2004) stated that there are four questions that are addressed when using the DOI theory:

- 1. What is the process of invention and adoption of technology or ideas subject to diffusion?
- 2. Why do some people (for collectivities) adopt before others?
- 3. What is the process that people go through as they adopt?
 - -What is the stage they go through?
 - -What influences them at each stage (sources)?

4. What are the consequences with regards to social welfare (growth and equity) given policies about, or the pattern of diffusion? (p.143)

In the DOI theory, Rogers (2003) explained the process and factors that influence the adoption of innovations. The most important aspect of the diffusion process is ensuring that the innovation gets adopted (Rogers, 2003). Business leaders can maximize an innovation's rate of adoption by understanding the factors that influence its adoption. However, an innovation does not have to be new, but only perceived as new to the adopter (Rogers, 2003).

Diffusion includes the communication process for spreading messages perceived as new ideas, services, or products. DOI may be transpired through the planned or occasional transmission. Rogers (2003) stated that the process of DOI is constant because new technologies continue to come into society. Rogers discussed four constructs of the DOI: innovators, communication channels, time, and social system.

The first construct of DOI is the innovators. Innovation may be something invented years ago, but if a customer sees it as new, then it can be an invention for that person. During the diffusion process, no one innovation is adopted by all individuals in a social system at the same time (Rogers, 2003).

The second construct of DOI is the communication channels. Communication channels refer to the traditional communication channels, such as telephone, television, and newspapers (Storey et al., 2017). Some businesses use social media as a tool to communicate with their customers and marketers. People in organizations communicate through channels. However, over time, communication channels have changed to meet

the needs of customers, such as e-mail, Internet, and Facebook. Mass media and interpersonal channels are two-way communications. Rogers (2003) revealed that diffusion encompasses interpersonal communication relationships through social development. Rogers also posited that interpersonal communications could be difficult to change or create when an individual holds a strong belief. Communication must occur among and within organizations for innovation to spread (Rogers, 2003).

The third construct of DOI is time. The rate of adoption is the time it takes members of the social system to adopt an innovation. There are three dimensions of the change process: innovation adoption process, innovation adopter categories, and rate of adoption (Rogers, 2003). The innovation adoption process is the first-hand knowledge of the innovation through the final acceptance or rejection of its value and application (Rogers, 2003). The five innovation adopter categories are innovators, early adopters, early majority, late majority, and laggards. These categories are relevant, according to Rogers (2003), as to how innovators influence one another to adopt the idea, product, or service. The rate of adoption is from start to finish and how many people adopt the innovation within the adopter categories (Rogers, 2003).

The fourth construct of DOI is the social system. The social system is the foundation for behavior science change (Rogers, 2003). The social system may be individuals, informal groups, organizations, and subsystems. A social system is a group of members who share common goals (Rogers, 2003). Within the social system, members create limits within which an innovation diffuses. In most instances, DOI takes place within the social structure of the social system. Liu, Sidhu, Beacom, and Valente (2017)

commented that diffusion of innovations transpires among individuals or organizations in a social system.

Adoption. Adoption is a significant step in the DOI theory. Adoption includes how consumers determine whether not to try or adopt innovative products or services. Marshall, Cardan, Poddar, and Fontenot (2013) and Jwaifell and Gasaymeh (2013) agreed with the DOI theory and stated that adopters are grouped into five categories. DOI is used to determine how innovation, which might be about an idea, behavior, or object, is adopted among the population.

The DOI theory is the foundation of change. In this theory, Rogers (2003) emphasized how the growing numbers of adopters use the communication of innovation over time to reach a given population of potential users. Scott and McGuire (2017) studied the spread and rate of adoption of agricultural techniques in local Midwest farming communities and identified general patterns and similarities in the change process. Although my study was focused on SMM strategies in the women's retail industry, I researched other industries that have used the diffusion of innovation theory. Each industry adopted the DOI theory to communicate new ideas, products, or services. The studies discussed in the following subsections show relevancy to how the diffusion of innovation of social media occurs in the numerous studies. Each study was relevant to using social media to communicate ideas or changes within the social system. SMM as a science field was difficult to restrict to only a few disciplines; therefore, I researched numerous disciples to show correlations as how social media through innovation of diffusion could help small businesses' growth by embracing social media.

Banking and the diffusion of innovation theory. Yahaya, Hamid, Idris, and Haji-Othman (2016) adopted the DOI theory to explore whether the perceived attributes of innovation influenced the customers' adoption of the products of the bank. Yahaya et al. discussed consumers' perceived attributes of innovations through the five characteristics of DOI theory. The credit card in Islamic countries normally symbolized the wealth status of an individual (Yahaya et al., 2016). Yahaya et al. postulated that intentions to use and attitude toward use of the credit card were mostly determined by the adoption of the DOI theory. Compatibility had a significant impact on how the consumers accepted the product or services provided by the Islamic banking based on their belief and values. Perceived risks also had an negative impact on the customers' acceptance of the product and service provided by the Islamic banking in Nigeria. The customers are more likely to use a new product or service that is align with one's values and beliefs.

Academics and the diffusion of innovation theory. Scholars have used the DOI theory to explore the decision to adopt new electronic technologies for classroom instructions. Jacobsen (1998) used Rogers's (1995) DOI theory to examine the adoption patterns and characteristics of faculty who integrated computer technology into teaching and learning in higher education. Jacobsen found that the diffusion factors and Rogers' attributes of innovations can be useful to adopters. Diffusion includes the spread knowledge of an innovation to a large audience through social media. Jwaifell and Gasaymeh (2013) used the DOI theory to examine and report teachers' use of interactive white boards at the selected school in Jordan. Jwaifell and Gasaymeh discovered that the

extent of teachers' use of interactive white boards was related to their perceptions of the five primary attributes communicated in Rogers's (2003) DOI theory.

Perceptions and the diffusion of innovation theory. Yap and Nan (2017) used the DOI theory framework to examine young Chinese wine consumers' (CWC) perceptions. The DOI theory, according to Rogers (2003), is the rate of acceptance and adoption of a product or service using the five characteristics of (innovation, relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, observability, and trialability). Yap and Nan used additional characteristics of religion and ethics to modify Rogers's DOI theory in this study. Yap and Nan examined how information about wine was spread through different channels of communication, such as word of mouth and advertisements in China. Also, Yap and Nan explored how the diffusion of wine information can influence the purchasing and consuming of wine. Because grape wine in China is a different beverage, diffusion of wine information was through the newspaper, magazine, wine tasting, and tradeshows. Yap and Nan found that the early adopters of the wine were information seekers, and late adopters consumed wine for personal needs. As CWC become more acquainted with wine, their perceptions changed. Some young CWC purchased wine and consumed wine because of family and friends, word of mouth, and selected publications they had read. Yap and Nan determined that in the large population of China, the wine information had not been diffused throughout China's remote areas. Substantively, the young CWCs' perceptions, complexity, compatibility, relative advantage, observability, religion and ethnicity, and trialability of wine information diffused through various communication channels (Yap & Nan, 2017).

Technology and the diffusion of innovation theory. Mustonen-Ollila and Lyytinen (2003) used the DOI theory to review over 200 information system (IS) process within three environments over 4 decades. Mustonen-Ollila and Lyytinen used the DOI theory to identify and analyze factors that affected the IS process innovation adoption. Mustonen-Ollila and Lyytinen focused on the initiation and implementation of the innovative process. Mustonen-Ollila and Lyytinen discussed five sets of characteristics, called factors, that affect innovation process: the innovation factor, individual factors, tasks factors, environmental factors, and organization factors. Most of the data were from 1995 to 1997. Mustonen-Ollila and Lyytinen showed that 90% of the adoptive innovations was in the IS process.

Hassan, Tretiakov, and Whiddett (2017) discussed factors that affect the breadth and depth of e-procurement use in small and medium enterprises (SMEs) through the lens of the DOI theory. Organizations differed in how they used and how much they relied on e-procurement (Hassan et al., 2017). According to Hassan et al., the breadth and the depth of e-procurement is a new study in its single context. Hassan et al. featured 151 SMEs in the manufacturing sector in New Zealand. Using the DOI theory, Hassan et al. determined that organizations adopt and use change as new technology when there are potential benefits of using the innovation. Also, business owners will adopt and use an innovation that is well-matched with the organization's values. Innovation that is easily understood is likely to be adopted and used (Hassan et al., 2017). Also, organizations choose to adopt and use technology to be competitive. Based on the study findings, the breadth of use was exaggerated by relative advantage, and the depth of use was

exaggerated by compatibility, which are two of five attributes of innovation of the DOI theory (Hassan et al., 2017). These organizations were not in positions to use e-procurement practices that fit their needs, but instead, were driven by the environment. Business owners have to evaluate new e-procurement technologies and their compatibility with the organization, such as the norms and practices. Innovation is a technology that is new or unfamiliar to an individual within a particular area or social system. The DOI theory is one of the most popular theories for studying the adoption of information technologies and the spread of information within and between communication channels (Zhang.Yu, Yan, & Spil, 2015). Diffusion is the process by which the information concerning the innovation flows from one person to another within a social system over time. To have a successful IT innovation, an individual must have communication channels, the attributes of the innovation, adopters, and the social system. Lastly, the innovation must have the characteristics such as relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, trialability, and observability.

Social media, health, social marketing, and the diffusion of innovation theory. Through the lens of the DOI theory, Ma, Sian Lee, and Hoe-Lian Goh (2014) suggested that leadership can also share news stories in social media. Social media use has been found to be influenced by the social networks (Ma et al., 2014). Ma et al. suggested that news can impact sharing behavior because it is the informational path that directly interacts with users. According to Rogers (2003), news can be viewed as a type of innovation without physical form. Ma et al. posited that diffusion networks could influence news sharing intention. The DOI theory is academically valid forexplaining

news sharing in social media (Ma et al., 2014). There are multiple levels of factors underlying news sharing intention, which include tie strength, opinion leadership, and news preference.

Through the lens of the DOI theory, Sundstrom (2016) explored social media network influences on women's innovativeness. According to Rogers (2003), innovativeness is a new idea, new knowledge, or a new product or invention diffused through the communication channel in a social system. The participants perceived their social system through three lenses: opinion leaders, social networks, and system norms (Sundstrom, 2016). Primarily, the opinion leader must have the opportunity and skill to seek information online. Sundstrom found that social systems were made by participants identifying the practices of their social networks through the community, work, friends, and family. Innovative participants were more likely to understand and identify with messages that offered multiple perspectives on an issue (Sundstrom, 2016).

The DOI theory was the appropriate framework to focus on the SMM strategies that small business owners use to generate growth in sales. Business owners could use social media to promote relationships on their websites and to generate growth in sales through the diffusion of innovation. Also, businesses could use social media to disseminate marketing messages to reach more customers. Rogers (2003) concluded that the most efficient manner to diffuse an innovative product or service is through opinion leaders. Opinion leaders may indirectly influence others to adopt the technology. Opinion leaders' adoption of innovation is a sign that customers can adopt a product or an idea.

Conversely, opinion leaders normally diffuse information from mass media into their social networks.

Critical Analysis of Supporting and Contrasting Theories and Models

Some supporting theories that I considered for the conceptual framework of this study were the adoption of innovation theory, diffusion model, the theory of planned behavior (TPB), and technology acceptance model (TAM). The adoption of innovation theory, diffusion model, TPB, and TAM are all at the individual level. However, DOI is at both the individual and the organization level. The innovation process at the organization level is more complicated than at the individual level. I also analyzed one opposing model, which was uses and gratification theory (UGT), in contrast to the diffusion of innovation theory. The UGT is concerned with the individual's use of friendly network sites, such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram. Krause, North, and Heritage (2014) posited that the UGT is an approach to understanding how and why individuals seek out social media.

Adoption of innovation theory. The adoption of innovation theory aligns with the DOI. Tornatzky, Fleischer, and Chakrabarti created the adoption of innovation theory framework in 1990. In the adoption of the innovation theory, potential consumers may not always adopt innovative technologies. New technology may saturate the market, which may allow for innovative applications that were not available. As the new technology is on the market, the old technology may continue to diffuse through a population of potential buyers, even as the substitution process is under way (Norton & Bass, 1987). Gil and Lampe (2014) stated that through the adoption of innovation theory,

an invention might be superior to the old technology. Innovative technology is one way that customers may adopt the newer products. The customer who did not adopt the earlier technology now can adopt the new one. The customer who had accepted the old technology may switch and adopt the new technology (Gil & Lampe, 2014).

There are three steps to the adoption of the innovation: awareness, tryouts, and continued adoption (Lambrecht, Vanlauwe, Merckx, & Maertens, 2014). Awareness is knowing about the existence of the technology, and it is critical in the analysis of technology adoption. Tryouts are when an individual can find out information about the product and when to use it. Continued adoption is where the person relies on his or her information and experience to decide not to use or continue its use of the technology based on its probability. The continued adoption stage is different from awareness (Lambrecht et al., 2014). The continued adoption stage depends on the returns to the technology as experienced by the individual during tryouts. According to the DOI theory, people tend to explore the new technology and experience how it might work in their business before accepting or rejecting those techniques. Innovation can be adopted or rejected by an individual or the social system. Customers and business owners will adopt an innovation if they believe it will improve their efficacy.

Diffusion model. In 1969, Bass invented the diffusion model or the Bass model as an extension of the DOI theory. Some authors used the diffusion model of 1970 for the first-time demand of a new product or service (Norton & Bass, 1987; Rogers, 2003). The primary construct for the diffusion model was the timing of adoption innovation. Bass (1969) believed that people innovate an idea, product, or service out of a need to satisfy

customers. Norton and Bass (1987) concluded that DOI is a complex process dealing with a larger population's decision. Rogers (2003) linked the DOI theory to that of mixed innovation.

The diffusion model is compatible with the DOI theory as mathematical ideas might contribute to the concept (Bass, 1969). Bass (1969) commented that the diffusion model projects how a social system might adopt a new product or idea as awareness flows through communication. Researchers can use the diffusion model to corroborate the increase in adopters and forecast future development of the diffusion process (Mahajan, Muller, & Bass, 1991). Through the diffusion model, the number of adopters may determine the sales and growth of the product. Mahajan et al. (1991) validated Norton and Bass's (1987) theory that when adopters continue to buy and repeat buying, rate can become constant.

Theory of planned behavior. Ajzen invented the TPB in 1985, as an extension of the theory of reasoned action (Ajzen, 1991). Scholars use the TPB to link beliefs to behavior (Alzahrani, Mahmud, Alfarraj, & Alalwan, 2017). TPB consists of five parts: attitude toward the behavior, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, intention, and behavior (Ajzen, 1991). Ajzen (1991) believed that attitude, and social influence of an individual, stimulate action. Attitude reflects how people think and believe. Grounded by TPB, individual behavior is influenced by attitude, perception of situations, management, and social norms (Idris, Abdullah, Ahmad, & Mansor, 2016). Pelling and White (2009) believed TPB to be a valid theory to predict behavioral intention. Pelling and White claimed that behavior is determined by a person's intentions to perform the

behavior. Muk, Chung, and Kim (2014) used the TPB to investigate the relationships between consumers' attitudes, perceived behavioral control, social influence, intentions to join, and plans to buy. Adopters empowered through their belief are more likely to execute actions to achieve personal goals (Lien & Jiang, 2016). People with higher confidence show greater motivation for change (Lien & Jiang, 2016).

Technology acceptance model. I also considered the TAM developed by Davis and Bagozzi in 1989. Davis introduced TAM based on the concept of technology acceptance. Alharbi and Drew (2014) believed that TAM is the acceptance of social technology that predicts behavioral intention and attitude toward use. Many leaders use TAM in their organizations (Sherer, Meyerhoefer, & Peng, 2016). TAM is one of the most comprehensive adoption theories. Davis, Bagozzi, and Warshaw (1989) that claimed TAM is a practical value in addition to the theoretical value of better measures to predict and explain systems in some organizations.

Sherer et al. (2016) believed that decisions made through the adoption process might influence some organization's environments. Moreover, at the organization level, TAM may include organizational factors and environmental features that draw upon the DOI or the technology, organizational, and environment frameworks (TOE; Sherer et al., 2016). TOE has a direct relationship with adoption; however, TOE factors drive adoption than by individual factors (Awa, Ukoha, & Igwe, 2017). The TOE framework is an organizational-level theory, through which its content influences adoption decisions. Adopting social media technology is a primary marketing tool, and it influences companies through increasing force sales.

Uses and gratification theory. In 1974, Katz, Blumler, and Gurevitch developed the UGT to understand how individuals use mass media. Users tend to receive gratification through the media that satisfies their social, informational, and leisure needs. The UGT is concerned with the individual's use of friendly network sites, such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram. Researchers commonly use UGT as an adoption theory to explore Internet usage (Luo & Remus, 2014). Researchers use UGT to focus on what people do with media, rather than what media does to people. Researchers use UGT to focus on the users and their needs (Luo & Remus, 2014; Raacke & Bonds-Raacke, 2008).

Some mass communication scholars argued that UGT is not a vigorous social science theory. Rogers (2003), rejected UGT. However, mass media scholars recommended that UGT traditional models will provide a useful framework to study the Internet and new mass communication. Researchers of UGT continue to provide an innovative theoretical approach in the initial stages of each new mass communications medium, such as newspapers, radio, television, and the Internet. Scholars continue to study why people become involved in one communication or another and what gratifications they receive from it (Malik, Dhir, & Nieminen, 2016). Raacke and Bonds-Raacke (2008) indicated that users meet many uses and gratifications by keeping in touch with friends and meeting new friends. The use of social media on friend-networking sites has an impact on communication and the social needs of people.

The UGT's premise is to satisfy the needs and wants of the users. Business owners can apply UGT as an Internet solution to increase business awareness and to

recruit new customers. To raise awareness, the owner may use these friendly social media sites to understand the social needs and wants of customers. Social media users will select exact SM based on their perception that the media will be able to fulfill their needs and wants. Organizations might stimulate positive behavior through social media, as well as discourage negative behavior. UGT theory is one of the first approaches to activate customers to choose media that satisfies their needs through gratification. Over time, UGT has gained support from numerous researchers regarding social media use (Fu, Wu, & Cho, 2017; Khan, 2017; Quinn, 2016). More people are using the Internet because of the amount of information available, and its online communication capabilities continue to be studied by scholars. As social media continue to emerge, both practitioners and scholars recognize the need to engage in its content (Dolan, Fahy, & Goodman, 2016).

Importance of Small Businesses

In the United States, some small businesses were the family farm. In 1953, President Eisenhower signed a Small Business Act, initiated by the U.S. Government, to support small businesses (SBA, 2018). The SBA (2018) sets the criteria for a small business. Millions of new businesses launched each year are small businesses. People visit small businesses daily, such as apparel stores, grocery stores, bookstores, service businesses, and restaurants.

Small businesses are rarely the focus of corporate research. For small businesses to gain competitiveness, the organization must be able to develop services and products and have the flexibility to adopt new technology. Ninety-eight percent of the 26 million firms in the United States are small businesses (Fitzgerald & Muske, 2016). Across the

United States, there are at least 5 million small businesses with 500 or fewer employees (Kuofie, Gholston, & Hakim, 2015). Small businesses drive the economy in the United States. President Obama's administration encouraged small businesses to strive to be more competitive and innovative (SBA, 2018). However, some small businesses do not survive beyond 5 years (SBA, 2018).

Retail apparel industry. The Industrial Revolution gave to rise to the movement of textile and apparel products from the homes to the factories. Since the Industrial Revolution, the United States is the single largest importing country in the world (Ha-Brookshire, 2017). Retail is the most significant private employer in the United States (Chung, Seo, & Song, 2017; Ha-Brookshire, 2017). The retail industry is critical to economic growth and wellbeing in the United States. The retail industry consists of numerous small businesses. The retail industry is a multibillion-dollar industry (Chung et al., 2017). Retail apparel industry includes clothing, accessories, and footwear.

The U.S. retail industry leaders changed the methods for conducting business from the traditional manner to online. Between 1998 and 2013, average retail firm size grew by 18%, from 19.3 to 22.8 employees per firm (Hortaçsu & Syverson, 2015). In 2013, e-commerce retail sales increased to 5.8% of total retail (Hortaçsu & Syverson, 2015). More customers are moving from the traditional brick and mortar stores to the Internet. Over time, the retail industry processes, and systems have changed to meet the growing demands of the customers and their lifestyle. Retailers tend to target a group of customers and cater to their wants. Retailers are also using social media to gather data on customers to figure out what the customer wants and needs.

As the retail industry continues to grow, brick and mortar retailers will need Internet. With the evolution in the e-commerce industry, online retail in India is estimated to reach 76 billion U.S. dollars by 2021 (Kalia, Kaur, & Singh, 2016). Technology has altered the apparel industry through global expansion (Kalia et al., 2016). Technology is changing the way retailers do business. Social media has had an impact on the retail industry, by increasing awareness of products and driving demands (Bubonia, 2017; Kalia et al., 2016). With the growing success and use of social media, businesses must embrace the future. Small businesses may use social media to help build their platforms to share ideas, manage the inflow of information, and increase profitability (Taneja & Toombs, 2014).

Challenges for small businesses. Small businesses must actively be involved with marketing efforts. Small business owners must also be educated on the importance of marketing (Calli & Clark, 2015). Calli and Clark (2015) stated that small businesses do not show sales growth, they lack marketing knowledge, and they do not understand their marketing strategy. Small businesses may turn to a strategic alliance with a more substantial company to seek advice on marketing strategies. However, Calli and Clark believed that small businesses must create a marketing plan with strategies to increase market shares. Small business owners face challenges that prevent the survival and growth of their business (Calli & Clark, 2015). Small business owners must focus on distributing the highest value to customers through better communication by using the Internet and social media. By using social media, small businesses may communicate with customers and promote brand awareness (Calli and Clark, 2015). Calli and Clark

expressed that small businesses do have the potential to engage with social media in their business practices of activities, especially their marketing plans.

Small businesses can use the increase of social networking to create opportunities for marketing practice. However, small businesses may have challenges in adopting social media. These challenges can be addressed through efficiency initiatives. Most small businesses may not have a SMM budget. Also, small business leaders may lack understanding of return on investment (ROI), financial resources, IT staff and expertise, and IT infrastructure and open IT governance (He, Wang, & Zha, 2014).

Calli and Clark (2015) stated that environmental factors might comprise of issues like the absence of peers, suppliers, or industry-specific groups using social media. Other ecological barriers, such as legal or regulatory restrictions on the use of social media by businesses and customers, can also hinder brand awareness in small businesses. Small businesses can overcome similar barriers of management, finance, technology, staff, and the environment by identifying challenges. Small business owners can overcome these challenges by providing guidance, developing training programs, using mobile equipment, encouraging employees to understand social media, learning biases, and managing social media platforms. Small business owners must have a strategy on how the business plans will inform and educate their customers in the community. The business owner needs to have the right content message. Branding is critical and is more personal. Some business owners use social media platforms, such as Facebook and Twitter, which are the top two social media platforms.

Small business success. There has not been enough research on how to measure the growth of small business (Bello & Ivanov, 2014). Some leaders use measures like growth in sales, employee assets, profit, and equity. Bello and Ivanov (2014) commented that for any business to grow, it must focus on innovation. Small businesses owners must be prepared to grow their business. Business owners must have a business plan, long-term goals, and strategic plan for growth. Small business growth can be staggered by fear of outgrowing of traditional practices (Bello & Ivanov, 2014). Small business growth depends on the industry growth rate and market maturity. Small business growth depends on the environment and social, political, technological, and economic changes (Bello & Ivanov, 2014).

Small business failure. Hyder and Lussier (2016) stated that small businesses are good for the stability of the economy and economic development of the country. In the United States, small businesses make up 99.7% of U.S. employees (Hyder & Lussier, 2016). Approximately 50% of small businesses survive beyond 5 years, and about one-third survive 10 years or more (SBA, 2018).

There is a higher failure rate for small businesses than big companies (Hyder & Lussier, 2016). Researchers are perplexed as to why small businesses fail (Hyder & Lussier, 2016). Whether a small business fails or succeeds, leaders may depend on the marketing skills applied to the company (Hyder & Lussier, 2016). There are two main reasons that small businesses fail: (a) lack of marketing skills and (b) financial problems (Cant, 2012). Researchers commented that most failure is due to the lack of marketing skills (Hyder & Lussier, 2016). Marketing skills include (a) gaining an understanding of

the market and potential for growth, (b) market needs analysis, (c) access to finance to fund marketing actions, (d) education and training, and (e) lack of competitiveness (Cant, 2012). Some other reasons for small business failure include low sales, profit loss, high levels of debt, and reduction in liquidity (Abas-Masturo, Imam, & Osman, 2013). Determining which business may fail or succeed is difficult. Understanding why businesses fail may allow business owners to increase the success-to-failure ratio (Hyder & Lussier, 2016). Marketing is significant to the success or failure of a business (Kuofie et al., 2015). Cant (2012) and Abas-Mastura et al. (2013) believed that small business owners do not possess the requisite skills when it comes to marketing concerns. Cant posited that whether a business fails or succeeds depends on the marketing skills of the business owners.

Marketing in small businesses. Small business owners can use brand awareness to create more exposure on the brand. Awareness is the primary stage of adoption of any product or service (Rogers, 2003). Awareness is the groundwork for usage in most organization's products and services. Having no awareness may cause no initiative from the customer to use the products and the services provided by the organization.

Human needs are the basic concept of understanding marketing. Businesses use marketing as a tool for success and survivability. Marketers should ensure that the customers are considered in every step of the process. Marketers may use social media to manage small businesses by understanding customers' relationships and creating value to profitability. Small business owners may use social media provision to build long-lasting customer relationships and profitability. Many global companies are adopting SMM to

empower their advertising campaigns. North Face, Pepsi, and Dell are organizations that have embraced SMN services to work in partnership with their customers (Go & You, 2016; Kohli, Suri, & Kapoor, 2015). Businesses owners should involve customers to give them a sense of proprietorship and make them social media followers that support the brand (Kohli et al., 2015).

Marketers must create an excellent relationship with the right customers. Thus, marketing must have some dialogue. The goal of the marketer should be to build relationships with the customers. Most customers do not use social media for making purchases. Nevertheless, they are looking for solutions, and this provides marketers with an opportunity (Kohli et al., 2015). The key to success lies within the company and how they can change their attitude and adopt new strategies in response to the customer needs, wants, and demands (Kohli et al., 2015). Many organizations know that social media works, but they remain uncertain as to how or when to replace or supplement other forms of communication with these techniques (Kohli et al., 2015; Lamberton & Stephen, 2016).

Marketers believe that the use of social media platforms supports their need to communicate with their target customers. Marketers may use social media channels to develop an organization's web presence. Creating web presence is an effective marketing technique to help establish and promote the brand, or mission and cause of the business (Appleby, 2016). Marketing is the responsibility of the business owner. When marketing through digital social media, managers can offer new ways to reach and provide service to customers (Lamberton & Stephen, 2016). Business owners and marketers should

determine whether using social media as part of their marketing strategy will be beneficial to the firm.

In small businesses, marketing has become a challenge to the organization as they adopt new social media techniques rather than using traditional channels, such as television, print, and advertising. Marketing is a two-way process that engages the brand and customers; it is no longer one-directional from organization to the customer. To learn what customers' needs are, business leaders can hire marketing firms to address these concerns. The use of lateral engagement, which is WOM marketing through social media, can reach hundreds and thousands of people in an instant. Social media can influence and scale customers in ways that traditional marketing could not. With the innovation of social media, small businesses can compete with the larger companies. Before social media, it was challenging for small businesses to compete with the advertising and marketing budgets of large companies. Consequently, with viral social media, business owners can get traffic with growing natural links, and keep traffic coming for a long time. With SMM, small business owners can advertise for much less.

Brand. The brand is a significant element of marketing. A brand must be active, interesting, humble, professional, and have the right content to target an audience. Brands should offer some entertainment to their potential customers. Also, owners must know their brand content, which may keep customers engaged on their Facebook page.

Business owners can use branding to create an identifiable image for their product or service. Branding is essential for a small business success.

Word-of-mouth (WOM) communication. Baker and Donthu (2018) commented that WOM is the act of exchanging marketing information among consumers. Pauwels, Aksehirli, and Lackman (2016) postulated that WOM advertising was more effective than paid marketing. Consumers talk face-to-face; talk over the phone; text back and forth; and communicate through social media with others on Facebook, Twitter, blogs, and other online channels. Customers need to trust before purchasing a product, service, or technology. Baker and Donthu stated that WOM affects choice, diffusion, and sales. When consumers find something more appealing, they often share it with friends who generate WOM. Pauwels et al. (2016) noted that online content is more likely to be shared across more people.

Electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM) communication. According to Chu, Lien, and Cao (2018), customers' usage of eWOM influences readers' attitudes, intentions, and behavior. A small business owner can use eWOM in the decision-making processes of consumers. Small business owners can use eWOM to influences customers' feedback, comments, and product reviews that contribute to sales growth. Also, small business owners can use eWOM to promote new products and brand development. Through social media, the small business owner can use eWOM to accelerate its reach of customer engagement.

Marketing return on investment. Measuring marketing ROI is multifaceted.

ROI has become vital to social media efforts. Marketers need to understand that there are measurable outcomes when dealing with social media ROI. As social media spending continues to increase, organizations will have to measure its impact. Approximately 66%

of marketers do not measure their SMM strategies even when data are available (Wilcox & Kim, 2016). The marketers should decide how the organization is going to measure their marketing efforts.

Small businesses need to make sure that they are getting a return on marketing investment. Although social media spending is on the rise, measuring its impact remains a challenge for some organizations (Wilcox & Moore, 2016). Governments and politicians use social media to secure a significant ROI. As governments use social media, they are achieving a high return on innovation and investment. Kim, Kho, Cha, and Lee (2015) commented that measuring social MROIs are essential to an organization's financial performance because (a) markets must justify the cost associated with social media irrespective of the size of the cost, and (b) markets must maximize financial performance.

Appleby (2016) and Kim et al. (2015) commented that there are three categories of ROI: financial group, behavior category, and attitudinal category. The financial group includes conversion when a reviewer becomes a supporter or donor. Behavior category consists of the how often an activity takes place. The attitudinal category comprises the transformation of attitude, perceptions, and loyalty within the community. As business owners continue to look at new products, they must understand MROI to grow their businesses.

Social media in small businesses. The social media landscape is large and everchanging (Fan & Gordon, 2014). As social media continues to grow, it takes on different forms such as Internet forums, e-mail, social networking sites, blogs, microblogs, and

voice over IP. Social media can be described in two terms: people and human relations and communication. Social media ranges from personal to business. Social media is different from any other form of traditional or online media.

Social media is a technology that is changing the lives of people and how they connect to each other. Businesses can use social media through numerous tools, such as recruitment, marketing, customer relationship management (CRM), and employee communications. Business owners and leaders may use social media platforms to enhance communication, collaboration, and sharing knowledge (Appleby, 2016). Business owners and leaders may use social media to engage consumers directly (Sajid, 2016). However, numerous businesses may implement SMM strategies that may directly or indirectly influence their adoption of new technologies (Appleby, 2016). When a business uses a social media platform, the organization may increase the productivity of owners and professionals by 25% (Appleby, 2016). Through social media, some organizations may reach a global audience with less effort, time, and money.

Social media has caused a shift in the way that businesses of all sizes engage with their customers (Nadeem, 2012). Moreover, social media can impact small businesses. Webb and Roberts (2016) posited that 77% of small businesses are using social media; however, only 39% update these sites on a regular basis. Sajid (2016) postulated that 75% of small companies have existence on a social media website. Social media has an impact on business image, reputation, and relationship with customers (Men & Muralidharan, 2016). The rise of marketing and social media is due to the adopting of innovation and

technology. Almost 20% of small businesses employ some type of social media as an essential element of the online marketing technique (Sajid, 2016).

Social media is a networking tool that can help small businesses increase traffic from social networking sites, such as Facebook, Bloggers, Ning, Myspace, Twitter; blogs; and platforms like Facebook, Twitter, and YouTube. Facebook is the most popular social network site (Facebook, 2016). Social media dominates not only business, but politics, entertainment, media/social, and charitable organizations. The use of social media is increasing among small businesses owners. Some small business owners use social media like Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, and Myspace to promote their business. Small businesses can gain significant value from social media (Cui, Gallino, Moreno, & Zhang, 2018). However, some marketers are uncertain of what social medium is best for their business. Small businesses adoption of social media depends on how well they use social media (Cui et al., 2018). Small businesses can use SMM with networking, relationships, community and customer, and online branding opportunities. Business owners can use social media to promote their target audience (Webb & Roberts, 2016). However, small businesses need to trust that engaging in social media activities may be rewarding and the cost of updating, and investing time is worth the sacrifice. There are some risks associated with using social media.

Within the last 20 years, the digital revolution has made an impact on small businesses. Small businesses can reach a global market and regional market at a moderate rate. Having a wealth of free media allows small business to benefit from social media.

Ainin, Parveen, Moghavvem, Jaafar, and Mohd Shuib (2015) stated that Facebook use

had a strong positive impact on the financial performance of SMEs in Malaysia. Social media consists of three stages: (a) capture, (b) understand, and (c) present. The capture stage includes obtaining pertinent social media data. All data captured will not be useful to the business owner. Business owners use the capture stage to gather data for many users and sources, such as Facebook, Twitter, Google, blogs, news sites, and picture sharing. The understand stage includes selecting relevant data and gaining insight from them. Businesses owners use the understand stage to conduct trend analysis to remove noisy data. Lee and Carlson (2015) suggested that the understand stage provides information on users as to how they feel about the company and its product. The present stage includes analyzing current data from the understand stage. In the present stage, leaders can determine the findings from the understand stage (Lee & Carlson, 2015). At any time, these three stages can merge.

Social media can become a communication toolbox for external stakeholders, not only customers but the public. Social media provides more interaction than traditional media, such as television, newspaper, and advertising. Scholars highlight both external and internal communication. External communication occurs with numerous audiences, such as customers, investors, and the public. Internal communication provides communication within the organization. External stakeholders using social media can connect with other stakeholders. In doing so, stakeholders can exchange information with one another.

Innovation of small businesses. SBA's primary goal as a policy maker is to encourage high growth and job creation among small businesses. Bloch and Bhattacharya

(2016) commented that a firm's performance is limited to its innovation capability. Innovation tends to create new jobs and businesses, products, services, and industries that expand the economy (Bloch & Bhattacharya, 2016). Bloch and Bhattacharya posited that a critical factor in improving the economy is the innovation of small businesses. Small businesses are essential to innovation and job creation (Bloch & Bhattacharya (2016).

Innovation comes in many forms from politics, funding, and thinking creatively. Some small businesses are dependent on joiners from businesses that previously have been engaged in innovation (Braunerhjelm, Ding, & Thulin, 2018). Braunerhjelm et al. (2018) posited small businesses tend to have a higher number of innovations than large organizations. Vajjhala and Ramollari (2016) observed that a critical enabler of innovation in small business is their ability to adopt new technologies and use them as a source of innovation.

Some constraints to innovation for small businesses are resistance to change, weak networks, lack of access to financing, and the need for leadership (Bloch & Bhattacharya, 2016). Talukder, Quazi, and Djatikusumol (2018) suggested small businesses are increasingly moving toward innovative technology processes that enhance economic development. Small businesses that take advantage of opportunities can offset some of their disadvantages, such as resources constraints. As small business owners continue to grow, there is an opportunity to seek information on marketing development, marketing strategies, and creating a marketing plan to perform successfully. Thus, business owners participating in training and obtaining measures may assist with reducing the failure rates of small businesses (Talukder, Quazi, & Djatikusumol, 2018).

Education, training, and development for small business. In some organizations, managers and owners view training as an expense, rather than an asset (Medina, Jimènez, Mora, & Ábrego, 2014). It is invaluable for employees to enjoy and learn from training programs provided in their workplaces. Medina et al. (2014) stated that organizations should train their employees so that they become expert and diversified. Organizations should use training to apply practical solutions to problems encountered in the workplace. Small business owners may receive continuing training from the Chamber of Commerce to gain knowledge. Volunteers run training sessions that may or may not have the training skills expertise offered to the small business owners. In most small businesses, the owners need strategies for at least 6 months as a part the overall strategic plan. Small business owners need to be active and have an understanding on how to train new and existing employees without triggering issues with efficiency (Bandura & Lyons, 2015). Small businesses should create opportunities for the individuals responsible for social media to participate in training workshops, either inperson or online, to get the skills needed to maintain a robust social media presence (Webb & Roberts, 2016).

Forecasting

Forecasting enables business owners to predict sales and growth. Lakhani and Kleiner (2014) commented that sales forecasting is a process of helping companies predict future sales. Any business owner can forecast, but they may not always achieve 100% accuracy (Diebold, 2015). Small businesses use forecasting to help reduce the uncertainty in decision making (Lakhani & Kleiner, 2014). Forecasting can mean the

difference between failure and success of a small business. Sales forecasting plays a role in the business management in any organization. Additionally, forecasting is a continuous process of learning and adapting of business owners. Sales forecasting can be found in marketing, strategic planning, finance, and operations.

Customer Relationship Management

Elena (2016) stated that CRM became popular in the mid-90s and has transition from traditional CRM to social CRM. CRM is a business strategy between a client and an organization (Elena, 2016). However, social CRM is more about customer service, putting the customers first, and using social media accounts to connect one to one.

Managers use social CRM as a tool to better understand customer needs and enhancement of their experience, which is key to customer retention, organization growth, and profitability (Abubakar & Mukhtar, 2015; Elena, 2016).

The CRM strategy is contingent on the right balance between three organizational resources: people, technology, and processes (Rahimi & Kozak, 2017). A small business may use a CRM system to achieve profits. The concept of profit is different from one business to the next (Fouad & Al-Goblan, 2017). CRM implementation can provide both tangible and intangible benefits to small business owners (Rahimi & Kozak, 2017). Benefits such as improving customer satisfaction, retaining existing customers, providing strategic information, and improving customer lifetime value could gain a competitive edge for business owners. There are numerous benefits to social CRM; however, an organization can plan, implement, and evaluate marketing campaigns. Organization's information is available all around the world, no matter what time it is, by each

employee. An organization that adopts social CRM as their present and future strategy will build better relationships with customers, growing and gaining trust and confidence (Elena, 2016). Elena (2016) stated that social media is growing at a fast pace and continuously. Social CRM tools update data endlessly and will de-duplicate data. Social CRM strategies can allow for feedback and follow-up and generate reminders to help company schedule activity.

Transition

Section 1 contained the foundation of the study; the background of the problem; problem statement; the purpose statement; nature of the study; research question; interview questions; conceptual framework; operational terms; assumptions, limitations, and delimitations; the significance of the study; and implications for social change.

Section 1 also contained the literature review. Section 2 has the aspects of the research study, such as purpose statement, role of the research participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and technique, data organization techniques, data analysis, and processes for assuring the study's reliability and validity. Section 3 includes the introduction, presentation of findings, the application to professional practices, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, conclusion and appendices.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 includes a discussion of the restated purpose statement, the study's research participants, the role of the researcher, the study's research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and techniques, data organization techniques, data analysis, and processes for assuring the study's reliability, and validity. The information provided in Section 2 is the foundation for the study findings, as I gathered data from the semistructured interview data, archival documents, and other data provided by the three business owners.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales. The target population included three small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry in South Carolina who have successfully used SMM strategies to generate growth in sales for 5 years. Small businesses may use the results of this study to learn how to increase return on investment for the business owners, which could increase the local community's tax base to improve social programs. Positive social change can also result from increased employment to stimulate local economies from growth in sales.

Role of the Researcher

As the researcher, I was the primary data collection instrument to explore the SMM strategies that small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales. The role of the researcher is a vital part of studies (Fusch &

Ness, 2015). The qualitative researcher's role is to ensure the integrity of the research, collect data, organize data, analyze the results, and develop conclusions (Collins & Cooper, 2014; Draper, 2016). The qualitative researcher must plan and prepare for the study by selecting participants, conducting interviews, transcribing, interpreting and analyzing participants' responses, generating themes, and reporting findings and conclusions (Parker, 2014). Qualitative researchers are responsible for collecting, organizing, and analyzing data (Tong, Winkelmayer, & Craig, 2014). As the researcher, I collected data using open-ended interview questions and a review of participants' documents. According to Stevenson (2016), the researcher must remain neutral. The qualitative researcher must gain knowledge through the inductive reasoning of the professional experiences of participants in a naturalistic setting (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015).

Although I have retail apparel experience, I had no prior relationship with the participants of the study. My experience working in the retail apparel industry for many years could be beneficial to the study because I understand the challenges and constraints of small businesses. The primary data from this research came directly from the participants' interviews and my review of archival documents. *The Belmont Report* serves as the foundation for ethical standards and guidelines to protect the rights of human subjects (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). I adhered to the protocol of *The Belmont Report* and the principles described therein, which include respect for persons, beneficence, and justice. I respected the rights of each participant in this study. According to *The Belmont Report*, the researcher should provide applicable

information about the study so that the participants can make an informed decision to participate (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 1979). Before the research process, I sent an invitation to qualified study participant as shown in the interview protocol (see Appendix A). Once the individual expressed interest in the study, I sent them an informed consent form to which they could respond via e-mail to state "I Consent."

The principle of respect for persons includes the power of a participant to make autonomous decisions by ensuring his or her wishes and rights (Novak, 2014). As the researcher, I made every effort to secure the rights and the wellbeing of the participants. The participants knew their rights to withdraw from the study at any time without consequences. Each participant signed a consent form that outlined the details of the study including assessing risks and benefits and selecting subjects according to *The Belmont Report*.

The principle of beneficence is an act of kindness that capitalizes on possible benefits while minimizing potential harms to the participant (Novak, 2014). Lynch, Bierer, Cohen, and Rivera (2017) agreed that the principle of beneficence is the opportunity to act in the best interest of the participant. As the researcher, I respected the rights and wishes of the participants throughout the study. I did not require any participant to continue in the study if the participant decided to withdraw from the study.

The principle of justice is used to ensure that the researcher's practices are fair and equal without coercion to participants in the study (Lynch et al., 2017). As the researcher, I ensured that I was fair and treated each participant equally with respect. I

mitigated any bias associated with the collection of data and data analysis. I asked the same questions to each participant, and I recorded each interview and conducted member checking to ensure that I had captured the participants' information accurately. Because I was the primary data collection instrument for the study, the participants needed to know about any potential biases or assumptions, expectations, and experiences that I had in conducting this research. Parker (2014) stated that the researcher should collect data without bias. Yin (2018a) and Fusch and Ness (2015) argued that researchers are vulnerable to bias when there is known knowledge or experience related to the problem of a study. Ibrahim and Edgley (2015) remarked that a researcher must be aware of personal biases, such as prejudicial beliefs, and the presuppositions that could contribute to bias before and during the data collection process. My goal was to be transparent to the participant to mitigate bias. I also conducted member checking to allow the participants to review my interpretation of their interview answers to validate accuracy.

As a researcher, I was open and honest about this study. To improve the quality of data, an interview protocol was necessary to gain further information relative to the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Scholars use an interview protocol to ensure alignment with the research question, thus enhancing the quality and trustworthiness of data during the data collecting process (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Dikko (2016) stated that researchers could use the interview protocol to limit bias in the study.

I used the interview protocol (see Appendix A) to ensure the consistency of the interview process and allow the participants to answer questions freely. I used the same interview protocol with each participant to ensure data accuracy, as suggested by Fusch

and Ness (2015). I also asked each participant the same questions in the same sequence. The primary data came from face-to-face interviews. I also reviewed organization documents and primary artifacts to achieve data saturation.

Participants

The selection of participants is one of the essential facets of this study. Some researchers provide criteria for participant selection in qualitative research (Charlick, Pincombe, McKellar, & Fielder, 2016). I followed Charlick et al.'s (2018) suggestion for the institutional review board (IRB) criteria for this study. Yin (2018a) argued that a researcher should establish eligibility criteria before collecting data from participants. The participants for this study included 3 small business owners in the women's retail, the apparel industry in South Carolina who had successfully used SMM strategies to generate growth in sales. The participants met the following criteria: (a) operated a successful women's retail apparel small business storefront location for at least 5 years; (b) enhanced or sustained profitability through social media strategies; (c) implemented a broad range of social media strategies, including online purchasing platform; and (d) had a willingness to share what works to remain competitive in the local and Internet apparel industry.

Strategies for gaining access to the participants are essential in conducting research (Peticca-Harris, de Gama, & Elias, 2016). Some researchers use their personal experiences of facilitating and maintaining access to gatekeepers, informants, and researchers (Peticca-Harris et al., 2016). Gaining access is often described in an autonomous manner rather than in a dynamic process (Peticca-Harris et al., 2016). I

researched organizations from local retail business directories in South Carolina. I gathered information from social media websites and requested a list of small business owners in the retail apparel industry from the local Chamber of Commerce. I obtained names, addresses, and telephone numbers from the Internet about the participants who meet the criteria of the study. I contacted individuals via e-mail and phone to explain the intent of my study and the requirements for participation. To establish a working relationship, I contacted three small business owners via phone calls and e-mail. I sent a letter of introduction and information that outlined the research, answered any questions from the owners, and collected e-mail addresses. I followed up with another e-mail and personal visit to the business owner's facility to meet in person, reiterate the details of the study, and conduct the interview. A private visit to each business allowed me to establish a good working relationship with business owners. Building trust and rapport with the participant is essential because the participant needs to be comfortable to answer questions candidly (Doody & Noonan, 2013). Rubin and Rubin (2012) also agreed that building a good rapport includes having an honest relationship with the participants. Brewis (2014) indicated that people create relationships that shape them and their behavior. Rubin and Rubin stated that participants should feel comfortable during their interview process, which helps researchers establish a good working relationship with the participants.

The chosen participants for this study aligned with the overarching research question to explore the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry successfully used to generate growth in sales. Elo et al. (2014)

commented that participants must understand and possess knowledge of the research topic to help the researcher answer the overarching research question for the study. The participant's knowledge must align with the researcher's theoretical, vital constructs, and the participant must contribute to the understanding of the phenomena (Krause, Luzzini, & Lawson, 2018).

Research Method and Design

Research Method

Qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods represent three types of research methods (Makrakis & Kostoulas-Makrakis, 2016; Yin, 2018). Researchers use the qualitative method to explore phenomena or experiences in a context (Nicholls, 2017). DeMassis and Kotlar (2014) stated that qualitative researchers collect data through interviews, examine documents, and observe behaviors. I used the qualitative methodology for gathering research data and exploring SMM strategies that small business owners use to generate growth in sales. I conducted semistructured interviews with at least three small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry in South Carolina who successfully used SMM strategies to generate growth in sales for 5 years.

The quantitative method consists of developing hypotheses for testing relationships and differences among variables (Ma, 2015). Parker (2014) stated that quantitative researchers use numerical data to measure relationships between factors and variables. Hemingway, Clifton, Stephenson, and Edward (2014) proposed that quantitative scholars can analyze pretest and posttest data from questionnaires to help evaluate the researchers' instrument. I did not use the quantitative method to examine

data using statistical analysis because it was not compatible with the purpose of this study.

Researchers use mixed-methods research to gather qualitative and quantitative data to develop in-depth findings based on the strengths of both methods (Snelson, 2016). Scholars use the mixed-methods methodology to explore perceptions of participants relevant to qualitative research (McMillian & Schumacher, 2014). Although researchers use the mixed-methods methodology to deepen their understanding of phenomena and theories, mixed-methods research can be challenging and time-consuming (Turner & Cardinal, 2017). There was no need for both methodologies for addressing the research question for my study because there was no need to examine variables' relationships, groups' differences for investigating processes. Therefore, the mixed-methods research methodology was not appropriate for this study.

Research Design

The case study design was optimal for the study because I focused on the phenomenon in a detailed way to build relevant knowledge. Case study researchers explore problems in their physical setting (Cronin, 2014; Yin, 2018a; Zainal, 2017). The case study researcher has little control over the events, and the focus is primarily on the problem of a real-life situation (Singh, 2014). Using a multiple case study design allows for insights into facts and to explore differences in the phenomenon under study (Yin, 2018a). Case study researchers collect multiple types of data from numerous sources, such as interviews, documents, and observations (Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

I chose the case study design over phenomenological research, ethnographic research, and narrative research. In the phenomenological approach, researchers explore the meanings of lived experiences and personal views of individuals (Charlick et al., 2016; Sohn, Thomas, Greenberg, & Pollio, 2017). Consequently, phenomenological scholars define the importance of lived experiences through in-depth information and perceptions through face-to-face interviews (Anderson, Leahy, DelValle, Sherman, & Tansey, 2014; Przegalinska, 2014). The phenomenological approach was not appropriate for this study because I did explore SMM strategies used by participants and not the lived experiences of participant. Scholars use ethnographic inquiries to observe a group daily life and interactions of this group to study the complexity of patterns that differ from others (Mol, Santos Silva, Augusto Rocha, & Ishitani, 2017). The nature of ethnography enables the researcher to explore social reality with the overall aim of uncovering the phenomena of a social group (Hayre, Blackman, Carlton, & Eyden, 2018). Yin (2018a) stated that researchers used ethnographic studies to explore the activities, behaviors, and culture of a community for prolonged periods. Similarly, Caulkins (2014) stated that ethnography is appropriate for seeking to observe behaviors, beliefs, and languages shared by various groups. Because the purpose of this study was not to explore groups' cultures, ethnography was not appropriate. Narrative researchers investigate the lifelong stories of individuals through the participants' personal stories (Berry, 2016; Haydon et al., 2017), which was not suitable for this study. I chose the case study design because it aligned well with the purpose for my study.

Data saturation occurs when no new or relevant information emerges from the participants' responses to interview questions (Anyan, 2013; Fusch & Ness, 2015). Data saturation occurs when information is repetitive (Robinson, 2014). Researchers have concluded that achieving data saturation is dependent on sample size, coding, ending point, and evaluating (Hennink, Kaiser, & Marconi, 2017). To reach data saturation, I conducted face-to-face, semistructured interviews with participants and collected data from each participant. I continued with interviewing participants until I reached data saturation. I conducted member checking by interpreting participants' responses to interview questions and giving these interpretations to the participants for validation purposes.

Population and Sampling

The population included three small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry in South Carolina who have efficiently used SMM strategies to generate growth in sales. The sampling method is a critical process for developing a quality study (Emmel, 2015; Patton, 2015; Robinson, 2014). Purposefully sampling is one way of obtaining in-depth information concerning experiences of business owners (Robinson, 2014). Some researchers choose purposeful sampling to determine the selection of participants based on the purpose of the study, thus making the participants suitable to provide data that could help answer the research question (Dworkin, 2012; Lamprinakis, 2015; Robinson, 2014). I used the purposeful sampling method to select participants who met the participant eligibility criteria for this study. By using the purposive sampling process, the participants had a detailed and comprehensive knowledge of the

phenomenon (Leedy & Ormrod, 2013; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The population sample must meet the eligibility criteria set by the researcher (Brewis, 2014). Robinson (2014) stated that a small number of participants could be invaluable to the population. Researchers use the qualitative method to attain valid data, regardless of sample size (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Yin, 2018a).

Data saturation in this study occurred when I could not obtain any new information from the research participants. To obtain data saturation, researchers collect data from the participants until there is no new information or data become repetitive (Cleary, Horsfall, & Hayter, 2014). Dworkin (2012) stated that researchers use purposeful data collection to increase their chances of achieving data saturation. A researcher should seek to obtain rich cases when collecting extensive data from participants while focusing on data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Data saturation occurred as the participants confirmed the accuracy of my interpretation of their responses, and they provided no new information. Researchers conduct member checking to ensure research validity by providing study participants with the researchers' interpretations of study participants' responses and asking participants to verify their answers (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2016). To reach data saturation, I continued to interview participants until no new information emerged. I used member checking to confirm the validity of my interpretation of each participant's responses to the interview questions. Data saturation occurred once the participants confirmed the accuracy of my interpretation of their responses and gave no new information.

One of the sources of case study evidence is the interview (Cairney & St Demy, 2015; Yin, 2018a). I conducted face-to-face, semistructured interviews by using openended questions (see Appendix B). I did not contact any participant until a consent form was signed, and the potential participant agreed to participate in the study. As the researcher, I conducted semistructured interviews with participants in their chosen business setting, unless the participant wanted to meet at another location. The face-toface interview setting is in a comfortable and safe place to ensure confidentiality. Deakin and Wakefield (2014) suggested that when participants are in a safe environment, they are more likely to share sensitive information. Dikko (2016) believed that a participant should be allowed to select the setting for the interview to ensure a comfortable and quiet environment. Mellor, Ingram, Abrahams, and Beedell (2014) commented that interviews should be conducted in a relaxed, cozy, homey space to allow for a nonthreatening environment to accommodate the participants. In addition, Yin (2018a) suggested that researchers limit their interviews to 1 hour. Similarly, Sohn et al. (2017) suggested that interviews last 45-60 minutes, but the timeline should be determined by the participant. Dikko also posited that interviews should be a limit of 1 hour to respect the participant's time. I ensured that I limited the interviews to no more than 1 hour to respect the participant's time and mine.

Ethical Research

I conducted the study after receiving approval by Walden University's IRB. The approval number for this study was 02-21-19-0460512. Researchers must complete the National Institutes of Health Course Protecting Human Research before conducting any

study. Researchers will ensure that participants receive fair and ethical treatment and used ethical procedures while working with human participants in a study (Chappy & Gaberson, 2012). I completed the NIH certificate to conduct this study. Lunnay, Borlagdan, McNaughton, and Ward (2015) stated that a researcher is responsible for conducting studies ethically, regardless of using social media that may challenge integrity outside of the researcher's control. The researcher must take into consideration that data drawn from studies can have serious, even private implications (Conway & O'Connor, 2016). I explained the intent of the study and advised the participants of their rights. All participants had the opportunity to asked questions both prior to and after completing the consent form.

As the researcher, I used the consent form to explain guidelines to the participants that the study was voluntary and that there were no incentives or compensation given for participating in this study. All participants in the study agreed to sign the consent form. Participants received a copy of their consent form. Abadie, Brown, and Fisher (2018) agreed that incentives or compensation to participants could influence participants. Azriel, Chambers, and Healy (2018) also commented that incentives or compensation could encourage participation in a study. Azriel et.al argued that offering incentives can change participants' motives to that of earning money, which may skew the results of the study. The participants did not receive any incentive for participating in the study. Yin (2018a) stated that all participants should be able to withdraw from the study at any time without consequences. I explained to participants their rights to withdraw from the study at any time without consequences. Participants could contact me via e-mail to withdraw

from the study. I informed the participants that their information would remain confidential. Yin (2018a) commented that participant personal information should be protected and remain confidential. I followed the interview protocol guidelines.

I followed all the guidelines in the Belmont Report to protect the rights involving human subjects during the entire study. I followed the guiding principles of respect, justice, and beneficence of all willing participants. I protected the rights of the participants and their organizations. The risk to participants was minimal. Business and participant names did not appear in published or written documents that could identify them in this study.

Robards (2013) recommended assigning a number to each participant to prevent identifying the participants by name or organization. Using the alphanumeric coding can help to protect the identity of the participants (Taylor & Land, 2014). I chose to label the participants in the study as P1, P2, and P3. The data I collected will remain in a locked, secured safe to protect the privacy of the participants, as suggested by Khan (2014) and Saunders, Kitzinger, and Kitzinger (2014). The consent forms, files, transcripts, and recordings from the research, will be stored on a private encrypted external hard drive for a minimum of 5 years to protect the confidentiality of participants. I will permanently delete the file after 5 years.

Data Collection Instrument

I was the primary data collection instrument in this study. Researchers use triangulation as more than one approach to researching a single phenomenon (Heale & Forbes, 2013). Researchers can use numerous techniques to collect data (Merriam &

Tisdell, 2015) but I chose to interview the participants and review of documents. To enable the methodological triangulation of data in this study, I used two distinct types of data collection: semistructured interviews and document review. The document review also included archival records and physical artifacts. The most efficient use of data collection in a qualitative study is conducting an interview (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Noble & Smith, 2015). I conducted face-to-face, semistructured interviews with three small business owners who had successfully used SMM strategies to generate growth in sales. Participants' interviews were semistructured and in-depth to gain knowledge to answer the overarching research question. Using the semistructured interview technique allows the researcher to refocus questions to prompt for information (Yin, 2018a). I recorded the interviews with the permission of the participants, reviewed data collection and analysis process, used verbatim recordings, and interpreted responses immediately after each interview session to ensure I captured data accurately. I provided my interpretations to the participants for validation purposes. I tape recorded each participant's interview using the Echo Smartpen by Livescribe. The data collection tool consisted of an interview protocol (see Appendix A) and embedded is reference to interview questions (see Appendix B). Participation was strictly voluntary; therefore, all participants could withdraw from the study at any time by contacting me via e-mail (Yin, 2018a). No participant withdrew from the study.

To assure reliability and validity, I conducted member checking by having the participants review my interpretation of the interview responses. Member checking is a technique researcher use to ask participants to review the researchers' interpretation of

participants' responses to interview questions to verify the accuracy of data collected (Marshall & Rossman, 2016, Morse, 2015). By conducting member checking, I ensured that my interpretation of each participant's responses was accurate.

As the sole data collector, I ensured the credibility and reliability of the data gathered from the participants. Reliability is essential by gaining accuracy using reliable instruments and measurements (Appelman & Sundar, 2016 & Cope 2014). To obtain credibility of the interview, the participants will review the researchers' interpretation of the interviews as written based on their reflections and experiences (Palmatier & Rovner, 2015). Scholars conduct member checking to confirm that the responses of each participant in the study are understood correctly and represented objectively (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Assuring the reliability and validity of data collection instruments requires consistent and logical procedural processes (Houghton et al., 2016; Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Researchers can use an interview protocol to set processes and procedures for participation when conducting interviews (Treloar, Stone, McMillan, & Flakus, 2015). I used member checking to assure the validity of the research data. I used the NVivo software to validate the data that I analyzed and coded after I collected data to identified themes.

Data Collection Technique

The purpose of data collection was to explore and understand the research phenomenon. Data collection is the process the researcher uses to obtain data to help the researcher answer a study's overarching research question (Sigh, 2014). I collected data through in-depth, semistructured interviews with three small business owners in the

women's retail apparel industry in South Carolina. I collected data for this study through interviews and document reviews of the companies' archival documents and physical artifacts. However, the interview was the key component of my study as I engaged business owners in open dialogue to obtain rich data. In additional to semistructured interviews, I increased data collected from the interview with each company's electronic social media documents and marketing plans that linked the data trends. I collected data from old newspapers clippings, journals, and social media data reports. My intent was to focus the discussion on the open-ended interview questions and ask follow-up questions when necessary.

The data collection procedure began upon receipt of approval to proceed with the study from Walden University's IRB. Anyan (2013) claimed that a researcher must be engaging, listening to the participants' experiences, and maintaining good eye contact during the interview. Adderley and Mellor (2014) stated when collecting data from participants, researchers must show respect and genuine concerns for the participants. As the researcher, I must recognize that the location of the interview is an important consideration and may affect data collection. I followed Anyan, Adderley, and Mellor's suggestions. Duggleby and Williams (2016) suggested the researcher paraphrase questions, so the participants can answer questions effectively. I paraphrased questions, when the participant was not sure of what was being asked, if necessary.

After approval, the following process took place to conduct the study. I requested and received permission to conduct this research study from Walden University IRB and to gather contact information of participants. Participants received the informed consent

form during the initial contact, which was used as a dual form. Contacting participants to clarify any questions about the study informed consent form was part of the follow-up process. Participant agreed to participate in the study by sending me a "I Consent" e-mail, and then I scheduled the interview at a convenient location for each participant. Data collection took place face-to-face. At the beginning of each interview, the participants acknowledged their rights on the informed consent form. I took field notes using the Echo Smartpen by Livescribe and then transcribed the interview in Microsoft Word document and Excel document. By using an interview protocol (see Appendix A), the data collected from all participants were consistent and confidential. Participants' privacy and confidentiality are critical, and the researcher must protect the wellbeing of each participant (Anyan, 2013). Also, the researcher must maximize the benefits of participants and minimize harm to the participants. Anyan (2013) stated that reviewing and analyzing company documents can help to validate data.

According to Yin (2018b), there are six sources of evidence of data collection that include (a) documentation, (b) archival records, (c) interviews, (d) direct observations, (e) participant observations, and (f) physical artifacts. I used two sources of data collection: semistructured interviews and archival organization documents and physical artifacts. Face-to-face interviews offer advantages and disadvantages within the qualitative inquiry. Onwuebuzie and Byers (2015) summarized that conducting interviews is the most common data collection method, as the researcher asks the participant a list of predetermined questions. Smith (2018) postulated that interviews are the initial data with other sources used to validate information obtained from the participants. However, there

are some disadvantages to face-to-face interviews. Face-to-face interviews could be more expensive and time-consuming for the researcher than other data collection types (Cardamone et al., 2014). Face-to-face interviews have the potential for researcher bias and geographical limitation (Alby & Fatigante, 2014). Rossetto (2014) commented that semistructured interviews could be stressful or painful depending on the research topic.

There are some advantages and disadvantages of using document review as a means for collecting secondary data during data collection. Researchers use document review when examining and interpreting data to gain understanding from existing documents (Yin, 2018a). I used document review to triangulate interview data to ensure consistency of meaning the content found during interview data. Another advantage of using document review is that the researcher can use data related to the case study (Irwin, 2013). The researcher also uses secondary data to synthesize and make sense of data collected (Godden, Kutsyuruba, & Tregunna, 2014). The disadvantage of using document review in data collection is that the researcher can interpret the data differently or collect inaccurate information from the secondary data (Houghton et al., 2016). Document review as a secondary source can create ethical risks because data come from personal interaction with participants, often involving trust towards participants' data on the part of the researcher (Irwin, 2013). Another secondary data is physical artifacts, the company's websites, blogs, Internet marketing strategies, photographs, and public records information (Haucke & Robinson, 2018; & Myers, 2015). Using information gathered from physical artifacts and archival documents, I triangulated data to explain the data analysis process and answer the research question. The disadvantage of physical

artifacts is information obtained from sources may be out-of-date, or the researcher can misinterpret the data. I used business documentation, social media information, and website information to gather additional information related to participants. Wahyuni (2012) posited that qualitative researchers could use other data sources to strengthen and crosscheck acquired data. Exploring documentation and interview data reinforces data triangulation (Heale & Forbes, 2013). An advantage of researchers using documents to collect data was that they could expand findings. A disadvantage of using documents review as a method to collect data is that researchers could experience problems acquiring complete documents (Yin, 2018a).

According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), researchers use member checking as a tool to assure validity, credibility, and reliability of data. Researchers use member checking to prevent and reduce errors (Houghton et al., 2016). Member checking is a technique researcher use to ask participants to review the researchers' interpretation of participants' responses to interview questions to verify the accuracy of data collected (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Morse (2015) recommended using member checking to allow participants an opportunity to clarify and confirm the accuracy of interview data that the researcher collects and interprets. I used member checking rather than transcript review to enhance the reliability and validity of the study's data collection instruments. To conduct member checking, I ensured that my interpretation of each participant's responses was accurate by sharing my interpretation with the participants for validation purposes. I also used NVivo software to validate the data collected and analyzed and coded themes.

Data Organization Technique

I collected data by interviewing three small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry. As the researcher, I organized and categorized all data collected after each interview. Coding, transcribing, and organizing the data can assist the researcher in identifying themes (Elo et al., 2014). I used a filing system to maintain each participant's signed consent form, company's documents, interview questions, and interview interpretations. There were no participants' names associated with their interview; the participants were only be referred to by P1, P2, and P3. I used individual folders alphanumerical coding to assist with keeping participants' information confidential.

Taylor and Land (2014) and Yin (2018a) argued that using pseudonyms should protect the confidentiality of research participants. I also used de-identification that entailed a letter and a number combination code to protect the participant's identity and information, as suggested by Lee, Jung, Park, Chung, and Cha (2018).

I used Livescribe Smartpen to record and transcribe handwritten notes. I used the Livescribe Smartpen to record the interviews of each participant. Harle and Towns (2013) claimed that the Livescribe Smartpen is a tool for collecting data and designing research. I used NVivo 12 software to code and categorize themes from the interviews of participants. Researchers use NVivo 12 software tool for examining nonnumerical and unstructured data (Sotiriadou, Brouwers, & Le, 2014). Researchers use NVivo 12 to prepare, organize, code, and collate data (Zhao, Peiwei, Ross, & Dennis, 2016). Woods, Paulus, Atkins, and Macklin (2016) commented that NVivo 12 software is an excellent tool for structuring interview data. Researchers use NVivo 12 software to reduce the risk

of errors, facilitate the data analysis process, and the ability to interpret the data. Researchers are ethically accountable to keep confidentiality of raw data and to protect the rights of the participants (Taylor & Land, 2014). According to Dewsbury and Dewsbury (2018), researchers should store all raw data because the loss of data can affect the study's validity. Buys and Shaw (2015) suggested that researchers store data in a safe place for at least 5 years. I securely stored all raw data, audio recordings, and interview transcriptions on a personal hard drive in a locked cabinet in my home which I will hold for 5 years. I will shred all printed documents and erase all digital information after 5 years.

Data Analysis

There are four types of triangulation: data, investigator, theory, and methodological (Yazan, 2015; Yin, 2018a). For this study, I used the methodological triangulation method to enhance rigor and reliability of this study. Researchers use methodological triangulation to determine richness and depth of data collected from various sources (Tonkin-Crine et al., 2016). I used the methodological triangulation to analyze data collected in this study. Using methodological triangulation during data analysis can strengthen the credibility of the study findings. I used methodological triangulation by using the responses from the semistructured interviews and document review to ensure an accurate representation of the phenomenon for data analysis. I conducted member checking with the participants to confirm accuracy of my data interpretation. By using methodological triangulation, researchers could validate and member check findings (Heale & Forbes, 2013). Yin (2018a) noted that increasing

creditability and trustworthiness in a multiple case study is a proper use of methodological triangulation.

Lawrence and Tar (2013) claimed that when analyzing data, researchers explore the meaning of the content. Lawrence and Tar contended that in data analysis, the researcher's goals include collecting, organizing, analyzing, and interpreting data to identify emerging themes. The selected approach is to group the data into emerging themes while assigning an alphanumeric code to protect participant and organization identities (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The data analysis technique involves identifying themes by reviewing the occurrence of word repetition, reviewing the concepts that emerge most frequently, and assigning meaning to the overall theme (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Yin 2018a). Data analysis is for identifying emerging and repetitive themes and patterns, so researchers can better understand these themes (Zheng, Guo, Dong, & Owens, 2015).

I adopted a sequential process for data analysis, as suggested by Yin (2018a). Yin (2018b) identified five steps of data analysis: (a) collecting the data, (b) separating the data into groups, (c) regrouping the data into themes, (d) assessing the information, and (e) developing conclusions. First, I collected the data by using semistructured interviews with open-ended questions, archival documents, and physical artifacts to answer the overarching research question.

Next, I analyzed the interview data that I collected from the interview process into groups. Researchers use coding for data as a means for organization and interpretation (DeMassis & Kotlar, 2014). I organized answers by labeling them with participant

numbers and themes. I assigned numerical values to participants: P1, P2, and P3. I also input data into the NVivo 12 for Windows software by using an Excel spreadsheet to regroup data and identify common patterns and themes to establish conclusions. NVivo 12 software is a tool for organizing nonnumerical and unstructured data (Sotiriadou, Brouwers, & Le, 2014; Zamawe, 2015). Researchers use NVivo 12 software to reduce the risk of errors in interpreting the data. Researchers also use NVivo 12 to organize, code, and move through the data (Zhao et al., 2016). Yin (2018a) suggested assigning labels to key parts of the interview transcripts. I kept a reflective journal to keep track of responses and records during the interviews, which helped me to identify key themes by grouping similar labels together, words, and participants' experiences. I also assigned labels to the interview transcript. The data analysis process also included researching the literature for recently published information on my themes. I correlated themes that emerge from the study with previous studies with my conceptual framework.

The data analysis process and interpretation began when I reviewed and interpreted interviews. I recorded and reviewed the documents related to the research question. Finally, after the data analysis processes, I drew conclusions from the study findings. Borrego, Foster, and Froyd (2014) commented that the conceptual framework links the literature with the methodology and results of the study. Yazan (2015) similarly postulated that the conceptual framework must align with the previous literature and the methodology.

Reliability and Validity

Researchers seek to ensure data collection and analysis are free from biases and errors to ensure the research results are reliable (Hess, McNab, & Basoglu, 2014).

Reliability occurs when data collection and analysis is consistent and without inaccuracies in the study (Hess et al., 2014; Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). I ensured reliability and validity for this study.

Member checking is a tool to assure dependability, reliability, and validity (Reilly, 2013). I conducted three interviews and follow the interview protocol to assure the reliability of the study. Member checking is a technique a researcher uses to ask participants to review the researcher's interpretation of participants' responses to interview questions to verify the accuracy of data collected and its interpretation (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). To conduct member checking, I ensured my interpretation of each participant's responses was accurate.

Reliability

Qualitative researchers explore in-depth knowledge of a single phenomenon of a research study (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). How the researcher generates findings is critical to the validity of the study (Elo et al., 2014). Dependability is a criterion for evaluating the reliability of a qualitative multiple case study (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Dependability refers to the duplicated nature of the study findings through peer examination, triangulation, and repetition (Elo et al., 2014; Reilly, 2013). Cope (2014) stated that dependability refers to the consistency of an outcome under comparable

conditions. Dependability allows for the reliability of the resources in a study (Funder et al., 2014). Through dependability, the researcher can gain validity of the study.

Erb (2015) and Marshall and Rossman (2016) suggested that the researcher should examine the participants' interview responses for consistency during transcription, member checking and data analysis processes. Researchers use member checking to confirm data dependability by comparing the data captured during and after the interview process. The interviews will continue until the researcher reaches data saturation from the participants' information, or where there is repetitiveness in the data. Credibility, reliability, and validity are important to ensure the accuracy, consistency, and integrity of any study (Hess et al., 2014)

Reliability, or dependability for qualitative studies, is the consistency, soundness, neutrality, and applicability of procedures, ensuring no biases from the researcher influenced the study (Hess et al., 2014). Transparency can assist in ensuring and demonstrating reliability and credibility of the study. I followed the interview protocol (Appendix A) to ensure that consistency in the same interview procedure. To conduct member checking, I ensured the accuracy of my interpretation of each participant's responses was accurate. Member checking is a technique researcher use to ask participants to review the researchers' interpretation of participants' responses to interview questions to verify the accuracy of data collected (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Each participant reviewed my interpretations of the participant's responses via e-mail to determine the accuracy of my interpretations and respond to me within 48 hours via e-mail. I used multiple data sources in this study, such as interviews and archival

organizational documentations to assure reliable and valid findings through methodological triangulation.

Validity

Methodological triangulation, an audio tape recorder, and member checking are tools to support validity (Terwee et al., 2016). There are two types of validity: internal and external. Internal validity is bias or cause-and-effect of the sample and is not relevant for qualitative studies (Terwee et al., 2016). External validity is the ability of the generalization or transferability of findings from one group to another (Terwee et al., 2016). Credibility refers to the acceptability and confidence of the findings of the study (Donges, 2015; Yazan, 2015). It is essential that qualitative researchers generate strategies to enhance the integrity of studies' findings (Kelly & Small, 2016).

Credibility is relevant to the researcher. As the researcher, I ensured the credibility of the study by using scholarly journals, member checking, an interview protocol, and methodological triangulation. By using methodological triangulation, scholars can produce full findings in the study (Heale & Forbes, 2013). I used methodological triangulation, via comparing the findings from interviews to the archival documents to enhance the credibility of the study.

Researchers believe that transferability is how well the researcher conveys the context of the study to the readers (Anney, 2014; Donges, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2015). To enhance transferability, I used detailed descriptions of the processes within the study. Principle researchers are responsible for enabling other researchers to determine

studies' transferability to determine the qualitative research results' applicability to other settings (Houghton et al., 2016).

Confirmability is when the researcher confirms or corroborates the results of the study by others (Donges, 2015; Erb, 2015). Confirmability is the exactness of the results by the participants through which member checking assures the validity of the study (Houghton et al., 2016). Also, confirmability includes using a technique that other researchers can replicate to confirm and ensure that the findings are repeatable for other research domains. Using member checking should assist with demonstrating the credibility of this qualitative study. Through using member checking, I ensured my interpretation of each participant's responses was accurate. Cope (2014) and Marshall and Rossman (2016) stated that member checking, methodological triangulation through comparing the findings from interviews and document review should strengthen the validity of qualitative research. Researchers use core guiding principles to achieve data saturation through sample size, coding, ending point, and through evaluating (Hennink, Kaiser, & Marconi, 2017).

Data saturation occurs when no new or relevant information emerges from the participants' responses to interview questions (Anyan, 2013; Fusch & Ness, 2015). Data saturation occurs when participants' responses to interview questions are repetitive (Robinson, 2014). To reach data saturation, I conducted face-to-face, semistructured interviews with participants and collect data from each participant until no new information emerged. If I did not reach data saturation within three participants, I would have continued to ask interview questions, and member check until the participants'

responses did not reveal anything new. For this case study, I used the methodological triangulation to help me reach data saturation.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I provided information on the research method, design, data collection techniques and organization, population and sampling methods, data analysis, ethical research, and processes for assuaging the study's reliability and validity. I explored SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales. The population for the study was three small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry in South Carolina. I collected data from various sources including semistructured interview, archival documents, and physical artifacts. Using the Microsoft Word and Excel documents helped me organize the collected data. Coding of interview summaries and looking at common patterns, I categorized the participants' responses into themes related to the research questions. In Section 3, I present the findings of this research, describe their application to professional practice, discuss implications for social change, recommend actions for future research, and reflect on the study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales. I interviewed three small business owners in South Carolina; the leaders possessed successful experience implementing and maintaining SMM strategies to generate growth in sales for 5 years. The findings include the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry used to generate growth in sales. I collected data from semistructured interviews and reviewed archival documents and physical artifacts of the participants' SMM strategic plans along with websites to perform methodological triangulation. Using Yin's (2018b) five-step process, I conducted data analysis that led to the discovery of three themes: (a) social media platforms, (b) the impact of SMM, and (c) CRM. All participants agreed that social media platforms could be beneficial to their business success. The uses of social media tools could increase customer retention. The DOI theory was the conceptual framework of this study that aligned with the themes and findings from the previous literature.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question was, What SMM strategies do some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales? The data collection process in this study comprised semistructured interviews and a review of archival documents and primary artifacts. I conducted semistructured interviews with three small business owners from South Carolina. Before the planned

interviews, study participants consented to participate in the study via email. At the beginning of each interview, the participant signed an informed consent form. Participants' interviews were conducted in person at the participant-designated location. Interviews lasted between 45 and 60 minutes. To ensure the confidentiality of each study participant, I addressed them as P1, P2, and P3. After conducting semistructured interviews with each participant, I performed member checking to ensure the validity of the data collected during the interviews. Along with semistructured interviews, the data collection process involved reviewing company archival documentation and physical artifacts, such as newspaper articles, websites, and social media pages across various social media platforms.

I then used Yin's (2018b) five steps of data analysis: (a) collecting the data, (b) separating the data into groups, (c) regrouping the data into themes, (d) assessing the information, and (e) developing conclusions. First, I collected the data by using semistructured interviews with open-ended questions. I analyzed data collected from participants' responses to interview questions and company archival documentation and physical artifacts. I interpreted the data based on the participants' responses to the interview questions and shared my interpretations with the participants to validate responses and to mitigate bias. I used the NVivo 12 software to code data via word frequency searches and identified recurring themes, allowing me to concentrate on items related to the overarching research question and the DOI theory. I achieved data saturation with the original number of participants because there was no new information that was inconsistent with previous answers and document review by the end of the third

interview. I recorded, transcribed, coded, and verified transcripts via member checking for all participants. Using NVivo 12 helped me identify three significant themes that morphed from the data analysis, which were (a) social media platforms, (b) the impact of SMM, and (c) CRM. All three themes correspond with the social media strategies the participants used to generate growth in sales.

Using the results of this study, I was able to confirm that small business retail owners could use SMM strategies to generate growth in sales. DOI theory was the conceptual framework for this research study, and it heightened my understanding of the social media strategies small business owners in South Carolina successfully used to generate growth in sales. There is a positive relationship between SMM and consumer buying behavior. Social media could be a useful marketing tool. All three participants commented that social media helped them to connect with customers and build their businesses with little financial impact. The participants provided significant responses to the 11 open-ended interview questions, which varied in depth and scope and allowed me to gain insights into how small business owners use SMM strategies to generate growth in sales. All three participants attested to posting content across different social media platforms several times per week as part of their business strategy to engage new customers. I used member checking to ensure the validity of the research data. In the following sections, I will discuss the three emergent themes and their relationship to the literature and the conceptual framework used in this study.

Emergent Theme 1: Social Media Platforms

In 2018, the number of active social media users reached 3.2 billion worldwide (Chaffey, 2018). According to He et al. (2017), social media is an online platform for small businesses to market and brand their products or services and to manage customer relationships. Most organizational leaders know that social media works, but leaders remain uncertain regarding the appropriate time to replace or supplement other forms of communication with evolving techniques (Lamberton & Stephenson, 2016).

In this study's findings, there was detailed information to better understand the participants' social media usage and to allow comparisons of the participants' usage patterns. Participants used social media to engage consumers in a timely and direct manner at moderately low cost and higher levels of efficiency than with former traditional communication tools. All the participants used Facebook and Instagram as a source to reach customers. However, 67% of the participants found Twitter useful for their SMM strategy. As Gordon and Fan (2016) claimed, businesses use social media platforms as marketing tools to reach potential customers.

The first theme identified pertained to participants' responses to the type of social media platforms small business owners used to generate growth in sales. The study participants used social media platforms to communicate product information from the business owner to the customer. The following three components of social media are the basis of this theme: (a) Facebook, (b) Instagram, and (c) Twitter. These three components morphed from the data analysis based on collected data from participants' webpages, their responses to the interview questions, and review of their organizational documentation.

The content of the businesses' websites visually represented some of the strategic initiatives P1, P2, and P3 used. For example, my observation of the participants' presence on social media revealed that P1 strictly used Facebook as a tool to post pictures and videos of new merchandise, gain customer's feedback, and increase sales. P1 postulated, "I can reach a more extensive customer base using Facebook." P1 used Facebook live to promote different products. On P1's Facebook page, I found a video post reviewed by 505 customers during the live video session. P1 used the live video technique as a way for customers to watch a live video, and expeditiously capture their feedback. Correspondingly, P1 could see the customer comments while the video was live. Similarly, P2 had 207 customers view a video featuring sweaters.

P2's and P3's strategic initiatives included conducting special events such as the Georgia Master's Golf Tournament and the Carolina Cup to build relationships and to meet and greet the community. P2 discussed business pride as a way of giving back to the community and providing enormous customer service through these events. P3 posted events on customers' engagement, such as Shop, Sip and Save Lives, Spring Tailgate Party, and Parents Weekend.

P2 allowed me to review the store's 45-page business plan. One component of the business plan was the marketing plan. Included in the marketing plan was the use of several SMM platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram. I also reviewed a newspaper article relevant to P2's business celebration of 45 years of operation on Facebook.

An analysis of the businesses' social media pages revealed that the participants used social media to post pictures and videos, promote community events, advertise daily, and promote special occasions. P2 explained in the marketing plan that social media platforms, such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram, were placed on their company business websites in order to invite customers to share, like, and follow the business. P2 and P3 employed all three social media platforms. P2 had the largest number of followers on Facebook, which was approximately 10,000, followed by P3 with around 7,000. P2's webpage had numerous testimonials from the customers. One customer commented, "I've been shopping at the store since I was in college . . . I feel like I know everybody well." P3 interacted with customers with a post on the company's webpages, "Who is coming to the event? . . . We can't wait to see you.

Using social media as a marketing strategy confirms Rogers's (2003) findings on DOI. Rogers found there would be a growing number of adopters using innovative communication methods. Specific findings related to Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram as a result of the semistructured interviews, website reviews, analysis of past and recent literature and document review are evidence of their correlation to the DOI theory.

Facebook. The participants specified that they use Facebook to generate growth in sales. P1, P2, and P3 contacted customers for immediate feedback using Facebook. Ham, Lee Haynes, and Bae (2019) claimed that more than half of U.S. social media users are multiplatform users; for instance, they use Facebook and Instagram to reach target customers. All participants in the study specifically mentioned that they used Facebook as a platform to reach potential and existing customers, to communicate with customers,

share products, and increase sales. P1's family business had been in existence for 47 years and continued to evolve from traditional advertising to social media platforms, such as Facebook and Instagram. P1used Facebook more than any other social media platform. Facebook was the one method for getting instant feedback. P1 uses Facebook to post new products and allow customers to market their business for them by tagging their business in the post.

P2's company was founded more than 12 years ago and markets its products to four generations of customers. P2 uses Facebook because it is free communication, effortless when sending messages, and reduces time and cost. P3's 70 years of operational business practices continued to evolve, as social media played a role in the way the organization connects to its customers. P3 used Facebook as a social media platform to communicate with customers and as a method for identifying product "Likes" via the "Like" icon. P2 and P3 indicated they employ Facebook to post pictures of their clothing items and special events. They also leverage Facebook to promote other social media events. P3 commented, "posting pictures of signature clothing always increase sales.

Customers will come in the store because they saw a picture of the product on Facebook or Instagram." Using varying words, all three participants confirmed Facebook as an innovative concept and a significant tool used for their improved sales growth. Also, described in various ways, all three participants reported they could quickly evaluate the effectiveness of their strategies by reviewing customers' responses via social media.

The participants' use of Facebook aligns with Balan and Rege's (2017) study in that small business owners increase business opportunities and communication with their

customers through social media platforms. Also, Fan and Gordon (2014) found small business owners use Facebook as a marketing tool to communicate with potential and existing customers. All three participants use Facebook as a marketing tool to expeditiously communicate with current and potential customers. P1, P2, and P3 used Facebook to connect and develop relationships with their consumers rather than merely providing information.

Instagram. All three participants used Instagram regularly to post pictures and videos of their clothing items to increase sales. P2 and P3 specifically post photos and videos of different signature lines of clothing for special events, specific local community events, such as the Georgia Master's Golf Tournament and the Carolina Cup respectively. P1 primarily used Instagram to post pictures but not significant events. P2 and P3 started using Instagram after first implementing Facebook as a marketing platform. P2 indicated that posting photos and videos of signature line clothing ensures customers return to make online or in person purchases. P2 and P3 reported that they use hashtag captions on their posts and videos as a means for tracking customers' comments and preferences. P2 used Instagram to introduce the company. P2 commented some customers knew the store, brand, and products before visiting the store.

All participants recognized some form of customer purchases online or physical visits to purchase merchandise as a result of using Instagram as a marketing tool. I asked participants the following question: "What sets your business apart from other women's apparel businesses, both locally and strictly online shopping experience?" P1 shared that giving small gifts to Instagram customers returning to the website to make a purchase is

an effective way of showing appreciation. P2 claimed that the reliance on Instagram sets the business apart from others and allows for time to launch new posts regularly, which was critical to sales growth. P3 uses Instagram to post clothing pictures but not as a method for conducting promotional contests. Lee and Carlson (2015) reported that Instagram is a visual platform that business owners use to reach current and potential customers as a way of communicating, collaborating, and creating value through picture content.

Twitter. Society uses Twitter for emailing, tweeting, messaging instantly, and texting. All three participants stated that they have Twitter accounts. P1 created a Twitter account but did not use it. P2 used Twitter as a social media tool to reach customers. P2 created a Twitter account because it is fashionable to have at the startup of the business. P3 started using Twitter because a business colleague encouraged it and initially used Twitter to gain customers and company visibility. P2 and P3 stated that while they do have a presence on Twitter, they had not been consistent with the use of Twitter for marketing purposes. While P2 and P3 used Twitter, P1 did not have a presence on Twitter.

Through the face-to-face interview process, participants had the opportunity to share their views and experiences using social media platforms. None of the participants confirmed any challenges using social media platforms. However, P1 stated that Twitter was not a good fit for the business to connect with customers. P3 said, "friends had told me about the Facebook page because we did everything the old way, but Facebook is a user-friendly site." All three participants' responses were positive about using social

media platforms for reaching existing and potential customers. During the document review, I reviewed social media platform websites to see how business owners connected with customers. The findings obtained from reviewing organizational documentation and physical artifacts align with the findings generated from conducting semistructured interviews with participants in that all participants used social media to communicate with customers. All participants attested that the use of social media platforms was good for their businesses, as it helped them to stay connected with customers and generate sales.

Correlation to the literature. Social media platforms align with the findings from other research studies, as business owners use some form of social media to reach customers and increase sales (Cui et al, 2018; Fan & Gordon, 2014; Karimi & Naghibi, 2015). Agung and Darma (2019) found through their research that online marketers should be more active in learning about social media, boosting motivation, and improving communication with customers. Business owners could use social media platforms to communicate, collaborate, and share knowledge with customers (Appleby, 2016). In this study, business owners also used social media platforms to collect data from customers, increase sales, and promote awareness of products. According to Karimi and Naghibi (2015), social media platforms foster communication around brand and outcomes, providing positive or negative feedback from customers. Participants that were active on social media facilitated positive conversations, identified customer concerns, obtained information about their products, and gained strategy insight from customers' recommendations. These practices align with those suggested by Sajid (2016). Sajid

found that during live videos, participants were able to facilitate communication with customers and convert negative feedback into positive feedback. Karimi and Naghibi found many customers were using social media platforms and, therefore, small business owners were gradually becoming more involved in social media as an effort to reach existing and new customers. Similarly, the participants of this study discussed their gradual use of social media and the benefits associated with its use.

The study's findings also support the work of Lee and Carlson (2015) in that, social media platforms could accomplish the goals of the business owners through building awareness, increasing sales, and building customers' loyalty. Cui et al. (2018) claimed that small businesses' successful adoption of social media depends on how well business owners use social media. All participants confirmed that using social media platforms was a successful way to communicate with the customer, build awareness, and reach a large population. All participants used social media as a place to market their products digitally as well as to create excellent communication with customers.

According to Agung and Darma (2019), numerous businesses have chosen Instagram to focus on photo and video content to support their marketing activities. Similarly, business owners in this study used social media platforms as a communication channel to encourage users to participate and interact, share information, and provide convincing messages. Almost 20% of small businesses employ some type of social media as an essential element of the online marketing technique (Sajid, 2016). I found that all participants used Facebook and Instagram to communicate with customers. Agung and Darma commented that the most influential social media is Instagram, which focuses on

photo and video content and can help business owners reach consumers without regard to time and space. All three participants emphasized the frequent use of Instagram, along with other social media platforms to reach customers; however, business owners still encourage customers to write reviews about their experience on Facebook and post comments on Instagram.

Correlation to the conceptual framework. Theme 1, social media platforms, align with the DOI theory, which is the conceptual framework used in this study. As stated by Rogers (2003), the DOI process is evident when a member of the social system adopts the innovation, such as a new idea or practice, over time. Rogers proposed four constructs of the DOI theory: innovation, communication channels, time, and social system. In this multiple case study, the innovation or new idea was SMM. All three participants used this new way of networking to reach current and potential customers through various social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram. All participants developed social media web pages to increase awareness and communicate with customers. All participants posted information about products, events, and promotions during special holidays. Over time, each participant attracted more followers by collaboration with customers on their social media sites, which increased brand awareness. P2 and P3 commented that the decision to use Facebook was due to the responses received from customers and friends. All participants claimed that WOM was a driving force for increased business. As their businesses gain popularity, their brand circulated through customers who connected on social media sites. Thus, the timely use

of getting information to customers and the social aspects of social media collectively also align with the DOI theory constructs.

The three study participants' responses aligned with the constructs of the DOI theory. Rogers (2003) stated that the process of DOI theory is constant because new technologies continue to permeate society. The most important aspect of the diffusion process is ensuring that innovation gets adopted (Rogers, 2003). Business owners could maximize an innovation's rate of adoption by understanding the factors that influence their adoption. However, a change does not necessarily have to be new, but only perceived as new to the adopter (Rogers, 2003). In this study, all three participants described their use of social media platforms to market to their customers because of their cost effectiveness and efficiency to reach a large population. Also, through active communication, participants discovered their brand products, which kept customers engaged on their websites and the participants learned some ways of using social media platforms for marketing their products. Business owners can use social media best practices to understand the impact of SMM.

Emergent Theme 2: The Impact of Social Media Marketing

Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram are increasingly present in the daily lives of customers, both as a source of information and peer interactions. SMM activity on Facebook and Instagram include posting content and creating brand pages. The following three components of SMM were the basis for this theme: (a) strategic initiatives, (b) WOM marketing, and (c) posts and hashtag strategy. These three components morphed from the data analysis based on data collected from the participants during the interview

process and the review of organizational documentation. All participants in various ways claimed that by customizing SMM strategies, they witnessed an increase in sales. Rugova and Prenaj (2016) stated that business owners need to determine whether the SMM strategy is working for them. All participants described various benefits stemming from the adoption of social media, including enhanced competitiveness, cost-effectiveness, customer engagement, relationship-building potential, business exposure, and real-time feedback. Small business owners must focus on distributing the highest value to customers through better communication by using the Internet and social media (Rugova & Prenaj, 2016).

Strategic initiatives. Schlinke and Crain (2013) found that small business owners must have a strategy to inform, educate, and engage their customers and community. Small business owners may implement SMM strategies to communicate effectively with customers. Customers can give feedback immediately to small business owners through SMM tools (Schlinke & Crain, 2013). P1 found that traditional marketing strategies did not work for the business; however, customizing the SMM strategy for Facebook and Instagram tended to work better. P2 tried to use conventional print advertising, but it did not allow for dynamic changes for marketing items coupled with time constraints. For example, traditional printing required 2 weeks prior request and, thus, many items were sold before publishing the advertisement. Also, traditional printing was not effective because customers were moving, and continue to move, toward social media platforms where online advertising is dynamic. P2 and P3 reported that since implementing customized SMM strategies, P2 and P3 had seen an increase in sales

growth. P2 and P3 used various charity events and social gatherings as strategies to reach customers without any gimmicks or contests. P2 stated that sales increased when were consistent on social media because the company's merchandise was always visible to social media followers. P2 had 10,000 organic followers. P2 stated, "customers see our posts, and they like them." Given the responses from the interviews, participants active on social media could facilitate positive conversations, identify customer concerns, and make recommendations for better products. In varying ways, all participants found initially they were not active on social media, but, after experimentation, they found social media beneficial for their business needs.

Word-of-mouth (WOM) marketing. P1, P2, and P3 commented that using WOM marketing was the most active form to promote their small business and an excellent way for customers to share ideas and brand choices. P1's company continued to grow because of WOM marketing. P1's customers talked regularly on the phone, texted P1, and communicated with P1 through social media (e.g., Facebook, Instagram, and blogs) concerning the new brand merchandise arrivals. P2 stated that word-of-mouth plays a role in the business as customers modeled the brands during special events, which brought other customers into the store. Similarly, all 3 participants confirmed that customers were passionate to share their positive experiences on social media sites. P2 stated that when customers post photos, their friends looked at the photos, liked the photos, and many visited the store. P1, P2, and P3 commented that WOM advertising was the most effective form of marketing. All participants discussed that positive marketing was a suitable strategy for their business. P2 argued that several customers would say

similar things, such as, "I saw this shirt, dress, or shoes on Facebook or Instagram," and "I wanted to try it on or purchase it." P3 posited that WOM marketing had been the principal aspect of success for the business. P3 hired interns from the local college to work, explained expectations, and trained the interns sharing specific details of the various brands.

The interns learned the essential operational business functions, along with the importance of WOM advertising. P3 also engaged in the local community as another form of WOM marketing, training more than 20,000 new students each school year through Instagram. Similarly, the 3 participants' use of WOM marketing certainly aligns with Berger and Iyengar (2013) who found WOM marketing as an effective way for exchanging marketing information.

Posts and hashtags. P1, P2, and P3 mentioned that they posted pictures of their clothing items on Facebook, which helped to increase sales. P1, P2, and P3 claimed that showing the items was the most effective strategy for illustrating products. P1 commented that products posted on Instagram generate customers' calls or direct visits to examine the new products. P1, P2, and P3 using various statements confirmed that posting pictures triggered existing customers and, thus, encouraged their customers to go online to find the items or call into the store and order them. P2 regularly uses a professional photographer to take in-store pictures of the clothing to post them later. P2 and P3 commented they use postings and hashtags for almost every event. P2 stated, "we use hashtags to get feedback from our customers." P3 stated, "new customers can find us and see our brand through our hashtags."

Lee and Carlson (2015) suggested that social media is the future for small business owners to communicate with their employees, collaborate with customers, and grow their business through sales. However, small business owners must be willing to embrace the future of social media platforms to grow their businesses and sustain long-term business acumen. In this study, the participants' practices align with Lee and Carlson's findings in that social media is one method for business sustainability. All participants agreed that when their customers posted photos on Facebook, sales increased. The strategy of posting pictures to generate sales supports the DOI theory in that customers spread the word of a new product or service to their friends through social media or WOM marketing and using hashtag captions.

P2 and P3 postulated that they used general hashtag captions on their posts and videos to track customer comments and preferences. P2 and P3 used public hashtag captions, which were helpful for monitoring events, including the holiday sales. P1's perspective resembled those found by P2 and P3 in that they used personalized hashtags to engage customers on a specific item or to promote a new product. Agung and Derma (2019) found that posting Instagram hashtags can help increase sales for business owners.

During the interview process, I reviewed company archival documentation, such as business ledgers, newspaper clippings, photographs, and websites of participants in this study. P1 had several archival documents that I reviewed during the interview process, which included photos, articles, newspaper clippings, and a business ledger. P1 stated the business originated out of the home of the founder and, as it began to grow, the company moved to its current location. I reviewed an article that contains a photo of a

ribbon-cutting ceremony celebrating the business' 45th year in operation. The celebration was also on Facebook. Several of the photographs I reviewed were of the business owner and members collaborating and making plans for the new establishment. P1 showed me a ledger that contained business transactions from the start of the business until the purchase of computers. I reviewed P1's Facebook and Instagram pages and found pictures of Pl participating in community events. Several of these pictures were hanging on the wall in the business. P2 provided a business report, emails, and a business plan. P2's business plan was in support of the need to open an establishment of a small retail business, not under a flagship. P2's business plan was a 45-page document that outlined the plan for the company. P2's business plan included the business logo, company name, address, phone number, mission statement, market plan, and financial overview. In the financial summary, the business owner summed up the financial requirements to include monthly expenses (\$18,000), start-up costs (\$20,000), and profit forecasts for the first 3-5 years. P2 posted a photo of the business' employees celebrating its 12th anniversary and sharing champagne with customers. P2's Instagram page contained numerous posts; for instance, one hashtag post, titled #loveknitting had 15,588 followers. P2 also discussed the social media that would reach more customers through the Internet, such as Twitter, Facebook, and Instagram in the business plan.

My review of P1's, P2's, and P3's websites and various social media platforms supported P1's, P2's, and P3's experiences relevant to their SMM presented during the semistructured interviews. P1, P2, and P3 developed their web pages to promote sales and increase awareness of their businesses. According to the findings of this study,

consistently posting engaging content is an essential factor in SMM. Similarly, P2 and P3 found it necessary to post at least three to five times per week and, using different words, both emphasized the importance of using engaging content. These study findings support that customers desire to follow Facebook pages that are personal, up to date, and interactive. A significant aspect of creating and posting engaging, meaningful content is to include photos and or videos.

Correlation to the literature. Previous researchers (Ahmad, Abu Bakar, & Ahmad, 2019; Maduku et al., 2016) confirmed that support from the business owner is usually a key criterion in the organizational adoption of new technology or innovation. The support of a small business owner is critical in constructing a supportive environment and providing enough resources for the adoption of new technology (Lin, 2014). The three participants in this study used multiple strategies to create social media content to communicate, connect, and engage customers to increase sales. P3 commented that the organization adopted social media because a friend had suggested using it. Other researchers (Ahmad et al., 2019; Siamagka, Christodoulides, Michaelidou, & Valvi, 2015) indicated that some small business owners embraced social media simply because everyone else in the industry was doing so, and the business owners did not want to be left behind. In this study, all business owners claimed that they did not have social media presence until a friend or coworker suggested the use of social media as a strategy to interact with customers to generate sales. Social media is conceivably an increasingly popular choice for small businesses because it allows communications to go from a private, one-to-one conversation to a many-to-many conversation (Siamagke et al., 2015). Correlation to the conceptual framework. The impact of SMM aligns with the DOI theory, the conceptual framework used in this study. Rogers (2003) proposed four constructs: innovation, communication channels, time, and social systems that comprise the DOI theory. The participants' SMM strategies used the DOI constructs to engage customers. The rate of adoption is the time it takes members of the social system to adopt an innovation. However, over time, communication channels have changed to meet the needs of customers, such as email, Internet, and Facebook. In this study, the participants adopting social media as a marketing strategy correlates with Rogers' DOI theory in that these social media forums are conducive to effective communication as social system channels and have the dynamic aspects of reducing time to market. P1, P2, and P3 acknowledged that the use of these innovative social media platforms connects their businesses to customers and the community, which generates growth in sales.

Emergent Theme 3: Customer Relationship Management

The CRM strategy has components that are similar to those Rahimi and Kozak (2017) mentioned when they claimed that there should be the right balance between three organizational resources: people, technology, and processes. According to Rahimi and Kozak, marketers have been shifting from transactional to customer relationship marketing. Rahimi and Kozak posited that social CRM is more about people; that is, delivering customer service, putting the customers first, and using social media accounts to connect one to one. Praise and complaints from customers in social media can spread quickly, and positive and negative comments can have a disproportionate effect on business (Schaupp & Bélanger, 2014).

A business owner could use the Internet to build relationships with current and potential customers, as evident in the findings of this study. P2 said, "one way to extend relationships with potential and existing customers is to establish a process by providing detailed information about products, such as color, sizes, and reviews, doing this may lead to a purchase and repeated purchases." P1, P2, and P3 discussed the important value that customers have on the success of the three participants' businesses. P1 wholeheartedly believed that first impressions are lasting impressions. I reviewed testimonial and messages from customers on the business owners' websites. Similarly, all three participants understood the importance of establishing excellent customer relationships and pride themselves in ensuring customer satisfaction. I found participants' emphasis on the importance of excellent customer relationships by examining feedback customers provided through the participants' websites.

P1 stated, "We have established personal relationships with our customers and endeavor to meet their clothing needs successfully." P2 commented, "We pride ourselves in giving back to our community and having excellent customer service." The participants' responses confirmed the importance of emphasizing people, technology, and processes. I found three categories related to CRM: (a) quality of interactions, (b) engaging customers, and (c) customer loyalty.

Quality of interactions. The three participants in this study used social media to market to the customer and improve the quality of interactions. P1 noted that P1's family had established personal and meaningful relationships with long-lasting customers, and P1 continued these relationships with the next generation. P1 regularly introduced

product changes and provided product warranties to all customers. P1 found that trust and loyalty attributes have a significant role in retaining existing customers and that experiences shared through word-of-mouth marketing helped gain new customers and, as a result, increased profit and market share.

Another method of building quality interaction P1 used was offering customers small incentives during particular seasons. During Mother's Day and Father's Day, P1 gives small gifts to the customers to show appreciation. P1 said, "customers remember how the business owner or salesperson made them feel when they came into the store." When customers are satisfied with their in-store shopping experiences, they tend to return to the store for additional purchases. P1 also said, "with God and the customers, the business remains operational even through the tough times." P1 claimed that P1's business has been operational for 45 years and continues to grow through catering to the needs of each generation. Similarly, P2 said "customer relationship is vital to my business . . . being nice to customers, knowing what they like or dislike, spending time with them, and knowing their preferences is the means used to gain customer loyalty." P2 stated, "everyone wants to look good, and if I sell sunshine, it builds customer loyalty."

P3 placed importance on the devotion and loyalty of the customers and the personal relationship gained over the years. P3 mentioned the longevity and growth of the business by identifying the number of stores and their various city locations. P3 catered to the business market, as P3' business grew through charity and football events that allowed P3 to showcase the business and show appreciation to the local community. P3 said that, "prices do not drive loyalty, but professionalism, knowledge, and knowing

customers do." Small business owners engaged in quality interactions that, according to Schaupp and Bélanger (2014), could use SMM to build relationships and trust with customers to generate sales.

Engaging customers. P1 discovered that engaging customers is an excellent SMM strategy to market the business and drive sales. P1 also understood that engaging and retaining customers is valuable to a business organization because the retention of customers may lead to the securement of new customers. P2 stated that engaging customers and building strong relationships with customers is an important strategy that is essential to the business organizations. Customer engagement obtained through building strong relationships with customers allowed P2 to stay in business. P3 mentioned that engaging customers was beneficial to P3's business because customers want to feel important. According to Schaupp and Bélanger (2014), small business owners can increase sales by engaging in an SMM strategy that includes building relationships and trust with their customers.

P1, P2, and P3 owned brick-and-mortar businesses where customers go to the store to procure products and services. All three participants commented that although selling products and services online is profitable, having a brick-and-mortar establishment allowed them to better interact with their customers. P1, P2, and P3 recruited customers to model their clothing during special events. P3 commented, "we truly want you to feel at home in our store and a part of our family."

Customer loyalty. P1 claimed that "customers treated well remained loyal." P1 also said, "making customers feel special and happy, coupled with having quality

products, can also ensure customer loyalty." P2 found confirmation of customer loyalty when P2 was able to outfit the entire family. P3 claimed that customer loyalty was the reason P3 had been in business for a long time because four generations of families were, and continue to be, loyal to the business by purchasing products and services. All three participants underscored the necessity to treat customers with respect and keep them informed through Instagram and Facebook about charity, football, and store events. All three participants confirmed in their various responses that ensuring customer loyalty was key to a successful and thriving business.

In my analysis of data collected, I found that P1, P2, and P3 posted pictures of customers from special events on their social media platforms. I also found personalized remarks from P2, posting the following statement: "who is coming to Moonlight Madness? . . . we cannot wait to see you!" I also found that P1, P2, and P3 regularly reached out to their customers to get feedback through social media in hope that customers would come into their store to attend events and purchase merchandise. P2's and P3's websites consisted of photographs of different events, providing evidence of the business owners' support to community activities.

Correlation to the literature. CRM aligns with the work of several researchers (Abubakar & Mukhtar, 2015; Elena, 2016; Men & Muralidharan, 2017) who found that small business owners engaging their customers tend to build relationships with them, resulting in an increase in sales. Men and Muralidharan (2017) found that social media has an effect on a business' image, reputation, and relationship with customers. Social media has become a communication toolbox for external stakeholders, including

customers and the public in general. Social media platforms, such as Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter are tools used to engage customers. The three participants in this study explored these tools to engage customers and generate growth in sales. P1, P2, and P3 found that their social media, such as website presence, and interactions with customers helped them gain insight about customers. Business owners used social CRM as a tool to better understand customer needs to enhance customer experience, which is key to customer retention, organizational growth, and profitability (Abubakar & Mukhtar, 2015; Elena, 2016). P1, P2, and P3 agreed that long-term customer relationships are an essential part of their business strategy.

Correlation to the conceptual framework. The findings of this study align with Rogers' (2003) DOI theory key constructs, which are (a) innovation, (b) communication channels, (c) time, and (d) social system. DOI occurs when members of the social system adopt the change, such as a new idea or practice, over time (Rogers, 2003). Three categories emerged within the theme of CRM, which are (a) quality of interactions, (b) engaging customers, and (c) customer loyalty. In this study, the participants adopted three CRM strategies to help improve their relationships with customers and the delivery of services. All three participants took pride in promoting customer relationships. P1, P2, and P3 discussed the importance of loyalty and placing the customers first. P1 claimed that P1's business had been operational for a long time because of the love and loyalty from people and the delivery of good customer service. P2 acknowledged that P2's company had experienced customer loyalty over 70 years. P2 noted that each day presents a lesson to be learned regarding effective ways to build customer loyalty, having

trust as an essential element. P3 enlightened me on the way a trusting customer had selected 30 presents prior to the Christmas season. However, on December 23, the customer called in desperation because she had not picked up the presents. The customer informed P3 that she was out of town at the beach more than 90 miles away. Therefore, P3 wrapped all the packages with Christmas paper and drove to the customer's home to deliver the packages before Christmas. P3 specified that focusing on core customers and keeping them happy is important to the success of a business.

Rogers (2003) explained the process and factors that influence the adoption of innovations. P1, P2, and P3 shared the way their social media presence strengthened electronic word-of-mouth marketing, which is consistent with the construct known as communication channels of the DOI theory. According to Elena (2016), an organization that adopts CRM as a present and future strategy will build better relationships with customers, grow its business, and gain customer trust and loyalty. P1 claimed, "word-of-mouth marketing is how I get all my sales." P2 and P3 agreed that most of their sales also comes from electronic word-of-mouth marketing, as customers share posts and communicate with one another. Cesaroni and Consoli (2015) claimed that small businesses could successfully use social media technologies to improve their ability to manage relationships with customers. The study's findings align with the DOI theory and the existing body of knowledge.

Applications to Professional Practice

The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate

growth in sales. Small business owners could use the information presented in this study to verbalize short- and long-term plans to help their organization seek SMM platforms to generate growth in sales. Small business owners in the retail apparel industry can use the findings of this study to create their SMM strategies using different social media platforms, such as Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter. In addition, small business owners could gain a better understanding of the strategies used to convince their employees to implement SMM strategies.

The three themes that emerged in this study, which were (a) social media platforms, (b) the impact of SMM, and (c) CRM, support professional practice in different ways. Aligning with the first theme, the participants described some social media platforms that small business owners could use to generate growth in sales. In this study, the participants were pleased to use Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram to reach their customers immediately. Similarly, supporting the second theme, the participants highlighted the impact of SMM and the best way to present their products to their customers in a cost-effective manner. Finally, relevant to Theme 3, CRM, participants talked about the fact that small business owners could engage customers in a positive manner. Loyalty increases trust between business owners, employees, and customers, thereby allowing for increased sales and retention of customers. In summary, small business owners also could use the results of the finding from this study to increase their knowledge about how SMM strategies were used to generate growth in sales by engaging customers through social media platforms.

Implications for Social Change

The results from this case study may provide business owners with useful SMM strategies to better communicate with customers. According to Kim and Lee (2015), social media is a crucial tool to assist business owners in developing and understanding customers. All business owners in this study could gain from using social media because it allows business owners to communicate with, listen to, and learn from their customers through feedback. I was able to confirm that a small business owner could use SMM strategies to communicate with and engage customers, enable customers to make more informed decisions and obtain faster service. Small business owners could use social media as an inexpensive yet effective way to engage new customers in the community. Contributions to positive social change could include SMM best practices and strategies to improve small businesses' steadiness in the economy. The information provided in this doctoral study could help small businesses to foster positive social change by reducing the unemployment rate within the local community.

The three identified themes were (a) social media platforms, (b) the impact of SMM, and (c) CRM that emerged from this study could influence positive social change. By applying the social media platforms strategies that emerged from this study, women's retail apparel business owners could contribute to inspiring potential business owners to engage in similar practices. Private and public business owners could use the study findings to create business plans, initiatives, and approaches to improve the resilience of small businesses in the community. Small business owners could gain a better understanding of social media strategies to help support local communities, businesses,

and local colleges. Also, increasing community relations by allowing customers to communicate on businesses' social media pages. Business owners could implement SMM strategies to improve communication between the community and businesses.

Recommendations for Action

Small business owners, managers, and leaders in the retail apparel industry could use the information, research findings, and recommendations in the study to create and implement SMM strategies that should generate growth in sales. I have four recommendations for small business owners to consider. The first recommendation is that small business owners should research and determine which social media platforms are most beneficial for their businesses and align their policies with the goals of their small businesses. Second, I recommend taking advantage of SMM training opportunities for enhancing small business owners' knowledge and increasing sales through effective strategies using the best social media platforms. Third, recommendation is small business owners create an SMM plan. Participants 1 and 2 in this study did not have an SMM plan; therefore, they could not implement these strategies and had no consistency. Fourth, recommendation is that a small business owner share the findings with a SMM expert responsible for implementing SMM strategies. Small business owners could employ a dedicated employee empowered to analyze SMM strategies. Participants in the study had no single employee responsible for implementing SMM strategies.

I plan to disseminate the results of this study in several ways. I plan to provide each participant with a summary of the findings. Also, the findings from this study could be useful information to create training programs for small business owners. The

ProQuest/UMI dissertation database will maintain a published version of this qualitative multiple case research study for review. Additionally, I will present the findings of this research study in business forums and other intellectual milieus.

Recommendations for Further Research

The findings of this study may serve as a foundation for further research in the areas of SMM strategies. In this multiple case study, I noted two main limitations. The first limitation was that the study had a sample size of three small businesses. The small number of businesses in a specific region in South Carolina limits generalizations from this study's findings. However, the results offer preliminary insights for future studies on the use of the Internet and social media platforms for small businesses. The study only included successful small business owners. The second limitation was that the participants might not have been fully engaged when answering the interview questions during the interview process. The study only included participants willing to participate in the study, excluding those participants having started the research process but ended up withdrawing from the study. Researchers could expand this study to include other types of small businesses in the retail industry, such as consumer electronics and food franchises, to see different strategies those leaders use. The recommendation for further research is that other researchers should also consider studying profitable small business owners from various geographic locations in the United States. Additionally, I recommend that researchers use the themes that emerged from this study and conduct a quantitative study.

Reflections

The Walden University's Doctor of Business Administration (DBA) program has been the most demanding, challenging, and gratifying experience. I began the program in search of pursuing my long-time dream of obtaining a doctoral degree in business. Also, I was retiring from the military and had already received my Master's in Business Administration, and my benefits included funding for going back to school. Therefore, this was my opportunity to pursue my dreams of obtaining a doctoral degree. Of course, I had many challenges; however, the DBA doctoral study process has allowed me to improve my research skills and to enrich my academic competence.

I chose to research SMM strategies based on my desire to know more about social media and how small business owners could use it to grow their businesses. I also plan to become a small business owner, and this would allow me to learn more about becoming an entrepreneur and using SMM strategies. In the military, I worked on numerous projects promoting the military through an SMM campaign. I wanted to learn more about how social media could be a driving factor in helping businesses generate growth in sales. The study enhanced my knowledge of research. Also, I learned the challenges that small business owners face staying in business beyond 5 years and the competition they face with larger firms. I will take the lessons learned at Walden University with me on my journey and pass them forward to assist others on their doctoral journey.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative, multiple case study was to explore the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to

generate growth in sales. I conducted semistructured interviews with three small business owners who were successful in using SMM strategies to generate growth in sales. The three participants in the study provided data through interviews and archival document review. The study included three small businesses in South Carolina that participated in the interviews process to explore this subject. The participants openly shared rich data with me. Through the interview process, I gained invaluable information on implementing SMM strategies for small businesses to generate growth in sales. Also, I gathered information from using archival organizational documentations from the business owners and websites. I gathered information from the websites on customer service, history of the business, testimonials, financial reports and a 45-page business plan.

Additionally, archival organizational documentation from the participants' websites also allowed me to review photographs and newspaper articles. Participants shared numerous photographs of organizational events to engage customers and increase sales. Using the websites, I was able to gain invaluable knowledge from the financial reports, testimonials, SMM plans and social media budgets. Some participants had a small social media budget but took full advantage of having access to a new way of marketing their products and communicating with new customers quickly and economically, reaching a broader audience through social media platforms. Reviewing testimonials allowed me to understand CRM through customers' feedback. I collected data using methodological triangulation of two data sources: interviews and archival organizational documentation. I used archival document review and interview data from

the participants of the study to ensure consistency of meaning I found during the interview process.

According to Yin (2018a) an interview is the most crucial source of data collection. After analyzing and coding the data, three themes emerged: (a) social media platforms, (b) impact of social media, and (c) CRM. I used member checking to ensure data saturation and validity. I reached data saturation when there was no new information gathered. The analysis of each new theme was linked back to the literature, existing bodies of knowledge, and the conceptual framework for this study.

The results of this study aligned with the evidence that I found in the current research that business owners using SMM strategies could generate growth in sales. The data collected from the participants' interviews and document review, I found that business owners are moving away from traditional marketing, such as radio and television. All participants confirmed that using some type of SMM helped generate growth in sales.

In this study, I found that when business owners use strategic initiatives based on consumers' feedback, consumer behaviors, and market trends, business owners develop a successful innovative strategy. Rogers (2003) provided strategies to analyze and assess organizational growth through innovations of SMM tools to sustain business activity. Small business owners could look at their business practices and develop procedures to ensure appropriate SMM strategies and methods to support themselves beyond 5 years.

The findings, conclusions, and recommendations could help small business owners to understand and use SMM strategies in their business plans. Facebook,

Instagram, and Twitter were the most commonly used SMM platform by the three participants in the study. All three participants used social media platforms mainly because they are free, provide immediate feedback, and could reach many customers. All participants revealed that valuing and developing relationships that fostered personal and professional growth contributed to small business profitability.

The findings from this study could provide small business owners with more data to sustain their success in business beyond 5 years of operations. Social media has increased in acceptance, as compared to traditional methods of marketing. All participants of the study have implemented some form of social media as their primary source of marketing. All participants shared that their business had gone through its high and low but if one conduct market research and understand trends business could remain successful beyond the 5 years. However, the participants' responses confirmed the importance of using SMM strategies to generate growth in sales. The findings of this study confirm that business owners' use of social media to communicate with customers could foster long-lasting relationships and increase sales through WOM. Also, WOM could create positive social outcomes and improve the sustainability of small businesses. All participants agreed that repeat business creates stability and success. Based on the findings from the study, I conclude that social media is an influential marketing tool for small business owners when used and properly employed.

References

- Abadie, R., Brown, B., & Fisher, C. B. (2018). "Money helps": People who inject drugs and their perceptions of financial compensation and its ethical implications.

 Ethics & Behavior, 29, 607-620. doi:10.1080/10508422.2018.1535976
- Abas-Mastura, M., Imam, O. A., & Osman, S. (2013). Employability skills and task performance of employees in government sector. *International Journal of Humanities and Social Science*, *3*, 150-162. Retrieved from http://ijhssnet.com/
- Abubakar, M., & Mokhtar, S. (2015). Relationship marketing, long term orientation and customer loyalty in higher education. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 6, 466-474. doi:10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n4p466
- Adderley, S., & Mellor, D. (2014). Who's influencing whom? Developing sustainable business partnerships. *European Medical Journal of Business*, *9*, 60-74. doi:10.1108/EMJB-06-2013-0033
- Agnihotri, R., Dingus, R., Hu, M. Y., & Krush, M. T. (2016). Social media: Influencing customer satisfaction in B2B sales. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *53*, 172-180. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2015.09.003
- Agung, N. F. A., & Darma, G. S. (2019). Opportunities and Challenges of Instagram

 Algorithm in Improving Competitive Advantage. *International Journal of Innovative Science and Research Technology*, 4, 743-747. Retrieved from

 https://www.ijisrt.com
- Ahmad, S. Z., Abu Bakar, A. R., & Ahmad, N. (2019). Social media adoption and its impact on firm performance: The case of the UAE. *International Journal of*

- Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research, 25, 84-111. doi:10.1108/IJEBR-08-2017-0299
- Ainin, S., Parveen, F., Moghavvemi, S., Jaafar, N., & Mohd Shuib, N. (2015). Factors influencing the use of social media by SMEs and its performance outcomes.
 Industrial Management & Data Support, 115, 520-588. doi:10.1108/IMDS-07-2014-0205
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Process*, 50, 179-211. doi:10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Alby, F., & Fatigante, M. (2014). Preserving the respondent's standpoint in a research interview: Different strategies of doing the interviewer. *Human Studies*, *37*, 239-256. doi:10.1007/s10746-013-9292-y
- Alharbi, S., & Drew, S. (2014). Using the technology acceptance model in understanding academics' behavioral intention to use learning management systems.

 International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications, 5, 143-155. doi:10.14569/IJACSA.2014.050120
- Alzahrani, A. I., Mahmud, I., Ramayah, T., Alfarraj, O., & Alalwan, N. (2017).

 Extending the theory of planned behavior (TPB) to explain online game playing among Malaysian undergraduate students. *Telematics and Informatics*, *34*, 239-251. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2016.07.001
- Anderson, C. A., Leahy, M. J., DelValle, R., Sherman, S., & Tansey, T. N. (2014).

 Methodological application of multiple case study design using modified consensual qualitative research (CQR) analysis to identify best practices and

- organizational factors in the public rehabilitation program. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 41, 87-98. doi:10.3233/JVR-140709
- Anney, V. (2014). Ensuring the quality of the findings of qualitative research: Looking at trustworthiness criteria. *Journal of Emerging Trends in Educational Research and Policy Studies*, 5, 272-281. Retrieved from http://jeteraps.scholarlinkresearch.org
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *The Qualitative Report*, *18*(18), 1-9.

 Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/peer_review_list.html
- Appelman, A., & Sundar, S. S. (2016). Measuring message credibility. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 93, 59-79. doi:10.1177/1077699015606057
- Appleby, M. (2016). Nonprofit organizations and the utilization of social media:

 Maximizing and measuring return on investment. *SPNHA Review*, *12*(1), 5-26.

 Retrieved from http://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/spnhareview
- Archibald, M. M. (2016). Investigator triangulation: A collaborative strategy with potential for mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *10*, 228-250. doi:10.1177/1558689815570092
- Argyris, Y. A., & Monu, K. (2015). Corporate use of social media: Technology affordance and external stakeholder relations. *Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce*, 25, 140-168. doi:10.1080/10919392.2015.1033940
- Ashley, C., & Tuten, T. (2015). Creative strategies in social media marketing: An exploratory study of branded social content and consumer engagement.

- Psychology & Marketing, 32, 15-27. doi:10.1002/mar.20761
- Atanassova, I., & Clark, L. (2015). Social media practices in SME marketing activities: A theoretical framework and research agenda. *Journal of Customer Behaviors*, *14*, 163-183. doi:10.1362/147539215X14373846805824
- Awa, H. O., Ukoha, O., & Igwe, S. R. (2017). Revisiting technology-organization-environment (TOE) theory for enriched applicability. *The Bottom Line*, *30*(1), 2-22. doi:10.1108/BL-12-2016-0044
- Azrieli, Y., Chambers, C. P., & Healy, P. J. (2018). Incentives in experiments: A theoretical analysis. *Journal of Political Economy*, 126, 1472-1503. doi:10.1086/698136
- Bandura, R. P., & Lyons, P. R. (2015). Performance templates: An entrepreneur's pathway to employee training and development. *Journal of Business and Entrepreneurship*, 26(3), 37-54. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/
- Bain, K., Rodriguez, J. M. G., Moon, A., & Towns, M. H. (2018). The characterization of cognitive processes involved in chemical kinetics using a blended processing framework. *Chemistry Education Research and Practice*, 19(2), 617-628. doi:10.1039/C7RP00230K
- Baker, A. M., & Donthu, N. (2018). Word-of-mouth processes in marketing new products: Recent research and future opportunities. In P. N. Golder & D. Mitra (Eds.), *Handbook of research on new product development* (pp. 313-335). https://doi.org/10.4337/9781784718152.00026
- Balan, S., & Rege, J. (2017). Mining for social media: Usage patterns of small

- businesses. *Business Systems Research Journal: International Journal of the Society for Advancing Business & Information Technology (BIT)*, 8, 43-50. doi:10.1515/bsrj-2017-0004
- Bao, Q., Cheung, W. K., Zhang, J. & Liu, J. (2017). A component-based diffusion model with structural diversity for social networks. *IEEE Transactions on Cybernetics*, 47, 1078-1089. doi:10.1109/TCYB.2016.2537366
- Bass, F. M. (1969). A new product growth for model consumer durables. *Management Science*, 15, 215-227. doi:10.1287/mnsc.15.5.215
- Bello, B., & Ivanov, S. (2014). Growth strategies for very small organizations: A case study of a very small entrepreneurship. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 6, 51-53. Retrieved from http://www.ijoi-online.org/
- Bendle, N., & Cotte, J. (2016). Assumptions of rationality in political marketing: The case of the Republican autopsy. *Journal of Nonprofit & Public-Sector Marketing*, 28, 66-83. doi:10.1080/10495142.2016.1131481
- Berger, J., & Iyengar, R. (2013). Communication channels and word of mouth: How the medium shapes the message. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 40, 567-579. doi:10.1086/671345
- Berry, L. E. (2016). The research relationship in narrative enquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 24(1), 10-14. doi:10.7748/nr/2016.e1430
- Bhattacharya, M. (2014). Business growth, size, and age: Evidence from the Business Longitudinal Survey (BLS) data in Australia. *Australian Economic Papers*, *53*, 129-138. doi:10.1111/1467-8454.1202

- Bloch, H., & Bhattacharya, M. (2016). Promotion of innovation and job growth in small-and medium-sized enterprises in Australia: Evidence and policy issues. *Australian Economic Review*, 49, 192-199. doi:10.1111/1467-8462.12164
- Bobkowski, P., & Smith, J. (2013). Social media divide: Characteristics of emerging adults who so not use social network sites. *Media, Culture & Society*, *35*, 771-781. doi:10.1177/0163443713491517
- Boling, R., Burns, M., & Dick, G. (2014). Social networking and small business: An exploratory study. *Contemporary Readings: Language & Social Justice*, 6, 122-129. Retrieved from https://www.ceeol.com/
- Borrego, M., Foster, M. J., & Froyd, J. E. (2014). Systematic literature reviews in engineering education and other developing interdisciplinary fields. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 103, 45-76. doi:10.1002/jee.20038
- Braunerhjelm, P., Ding, D., & Thulin, P. (2018). The knowledge spillover theory of intrapreneurship. *Small business economics*, *51*(1), 1-30. doi:10.1007/s11187-017-9928-9
- Brewis, J. (2014). The ethics of researching friends: On convenience sampling in qualitative management and organization studies. *Journal of British Management*, 25, 849-862. doi:10.1111.14678551.1206
- Bubonia, J. E. (2017). *Apparel production terms and processes: Studio instant access*. New York, NY: Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Budhai, S. S., & Grant, K. S. L. (2018). First encounters, service experience, parting impressions: Examining the dynamics of service-learning relationships. *Journal*

- of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement, 22(3), 69-92. doi:10.1111/146-8462-12164
- Buys, C. M., & Shaw, P. L. (2015). Data management practice across an institution: Survey and report. *Journal of Librarianship and Scholarly Communication*, *3*, 1225-1247. doi:10.7710/2162-3309.1225.
- Cairney, P., & St Denny, E.(2015). Reviews of what is qualitative research and what is qualitative interviewing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*:

 Theory and Practice, 18, 117-125. doi:10.1080/13645579.2014.957434
- Calli, L., & Clark, L. (2015, July). Overcoming SME barriers to gaining competitive advantage through social media. *Proceedings of the 2nd European Conference Social Media ECSM*, 59. doi:10.13140/RG.2.1.4136.3046
- Cant, M. (2012). Challenges faced by SME's in South Africa: Are marketing skills needed? *International Business & Economics Research Journal*, 11, 1107-1116. doi:10.1903/iber.v11.10.725
- Cardamone, A. S., Eboli, L., & Mazzulla, G. (2014). Drivers' road accident risk perception. A comparison between face-to-face interview and web-based survey.

 *Advances in Transportation Studies, 33(2), 59-72. doi:10.4399/97888548728995
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 811-831. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss5/
- Caulkins, D. (2014). Ethnography. In D. Coghlan & M. Brydon-Miller (Eds.), *The SAGE* encyclopedia of action research. doi:10.4135/9781446294406.n110

- Cesaroni, F. M., & Consoli, D. (2015). Are small businesses really able to take advantage of social media? *Electronic Journal of Knowledge Management*, *13*(4), 257-268.

 Retrieved from http://www.ejkm.com/main.html
- Chappy, S., & Gaberson, K. B. (2012). To IRB or not to IRB: That is a question? *AORN Journal*, 95, 682-683. doi:10,1016j.aorn/2012.03.12
- Charlick, S., Pincombe, J., McKellar, L., & Fielder, A. (2016). Making sense of participant experiences: Interpretative phenomenological analysis in midwifery research. *International Journal of Doctoral Studies*, 11, 205-216. doi:10.28945/3486
- Chen, H., De, P., & Hu, Y. J. (2015). IT-enabled broadcasting in social media: An empirical study of artists' activities and music sales. *Information Systems**Research*, 26, 513-531. doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2201430
- Chen, H., Hsu, W., & Chang, C.Y. (2014). Family ownership, institutional ownership, and internationalization of SMEs. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 52, 771-789. doi:10.1111/jsbm.12031
- Cheung, M. F., & To, W. (2016). Service co-creation in social media: An extension of the theory of planned behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 65, 260-266. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.08.031
- Chou, S. W., & Hsu, C. S. (2016). Understanding online repurchase intention: Social exchange theory and shopping habit. *Information Systems and e-Business*Management, 14, 19-45. doi:10.1007/s10257-015-0272-9
- Choudhury, M. M., & Harrigan, P. (2014). CRM to social CRM: The integration of new

- technologies into customer relationship management. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 22, 149-176. doi:10.1080/096524X.2013.876069
- Chu, S. C., Lien, C. H., & Cao, Y. (2018). Electronic word-of-mouth (eWOM) on WeChat: Examining the influence of sense of belonging, need for self-enhancement, and consumer engagement on Chinese travelers' eWOM.

 International Journal of Advertising, 37(4), 1-24.

 doi:10.1080/02650487.2018.1470917
- Chung, D. J., Seo, K., & Song, R. (2017). Where should we build a mall? The formation of market structure and its effect on sales. *Harvard Business School*, *17*, 1-41.

 Retrieved from https://dash.harvard.edu/
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 473-475. doi:10.1111/jim.12163
- Collins, C. S., & Cooper, J. E. (2014). Emotional intelligence and the qualitative researcher. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *13*, 88-103. doi:10.1177/160940691401300134
- Conway, M., & O'Connor, D. (2016). Social media, big data, and mental health: Current advances and ethical implications. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *9*, 77-82. doi:10.1016/jcopsyc.2016.01.004
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 89-91. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2014). Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and

- procedures for developing grounded theory (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 19-27. doi: 10.7748/nr.21.5.19
- Cui, R., Gallino, S., Moreno, A., & Zhang, D. J. (2018). The operational value of social media information. *Production and Operations Management*, 27(10), 1749-1769. doi:10.1111/poms.12707
- Cunningham, T. R., Sinclair, R., & Schulte, P. (2014). Better understanding the small business construct to advance research on delivering workplace health and safety. Small Enterprise Research, 211, 148-160. doi:10.5172/ser.2014.21.2.148
- Danneels, E. (2004). Disruptive technology reconsidered: A critique and research agenda.

 Journal of Product Innovation Management, 21(4), 246-258.

 doi:10.1111/j.0737-6782.2004.00076.x
- Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., & Warshaw, P. R. (1989). User acceptance of computer technology: A comparison of two theoretical models. *Management Science*, 35, 982-1003. doi:10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982
- Deakin, H., &Wakefield, K. (2014) Skype interviewing: Reflection of two PhD researchers. *Qualitative Research*, *14*, 603-616. doi:10.1177/1468794113488126
- DeMassis, A., & Kotlar, J. (2014). The case study method in family business research:

 Guidelines for qualitative scholarship. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 5, 15-29. doi:10.1016.j.jfbs.2014.01.007
- Dewsbury, G., & Dewsbury, D. (2018). Keeping it secure: Data security in residential care. *Nursing & Residential Care*, 20(2), 70-73. doi:10.12968/nrec.2018.20.2.70

- Diebold, F. X. (2015). Comparing predictive accuracy, twenty years later: A personal perspective on the use and abuse of Diebold–Mariano tests. *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, *33*(1), 1-23. doi:10.1080/07350015.2014.983236
- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in takaful (Islamic insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 521. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss3/6/
- Dolan, R., Fahy, J., & Goodman, S. (2016). Social media engagement behavior: A users and gratification perspective. *Journal of Strategic Marketing*, 24, 261-277. doi:10.10840965254X.1095222
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data.

 Nurse Researcher, 20, 28-32. Retrieved from https://rcni.com/journals
- Donges, W. E. (2015). A qualitative case study: The lived educational experiences of former juvenile delinquents. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1009-1028. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss7/6/
- Draper, C. (2016). Role of qualitative research in exercise science and sports medicine. *South African Journal of Sports Medicine*, 21, 27-28. doi:10.17159/2413-3108/2009/v21i1a569
- Duggleby, W., & Williams, A. (2016). Methodological and epistemological considerations in utilizing qualitative inquiry to develop interventions. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 147-153. doi:10.1177/1049732315590403
- Dworkin, S. L. (2012). Sample size policy for qualitative studies using in-depth interviews. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *41*, 1319-1320. doi:10.1007/s10508-012-

- Elena, C. A. (2016). Social media—A strategy in developing customer relationship management. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *39*, 785-790. doi:10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30266-0
- Emmel, N. (2015). Themes, variables, and the limits to calculating sample size in qualitative research: A response to Fugard and Potts. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 6, 1–2. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1005457
- Emmerson, R. W. (2015). Convenience sampling, random sampling, and snowball sampling. How does sampling affect the validity of research? *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 109, 164-168. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/
- Epstein, M. J. (2018). Making sustainability work: Best practices in managing and measuring corporate social, environmental and economic impacts (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge Publishers
- Erb, A. C. (2015). The life stories of individuals who as adults were identified as experiencing the effects of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder. Retrieved from https://repository.upenn.edu/
- Eriksson, P., & Kovalainen, A. (2015). *Qualitative methods in business research: A practical guide to social research* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Facebook. (2016). Facebook statistics. Retrieved from https://newsroom.fb.com
 Fan, W., & Gordon, M. D. (2014). The power of social media analytics. *Communication*

- of the ACM, 57, 74-81. doi:10.1145/2602574
- Fitzgerald, M. A., & Muske, G. (2016). Family businesses and community development:

 The role of small business owners and entrepreneurs. *Community Development*,

 16, 189-195. doi:10.1080/15575330.2015.1133683
- Fouad, N., & Al-Goblan, N. (2017). Using customer relationship management systems at university libraries: A comparative study between Saudi Arabia and Egypt. *International Federation of Library Associations and Institutions*, 43, 158–170. doi:10.1177/0340035216685103
- Fu, P. W., Wu, C. C., & Cho, Y. J. (2017). What makes users share content on Facebook?

 Compatibility among psychological incentive, social capital focus, and content type. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 67, 23-32. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2016.10.010
- Funder, D., Levine, J., Mackie, D., Morf, C., Sansone, C., Vazire, S., & West, S. (2014).

 Improving the dependability of research in personality and social psychology:

 Recommendations for research and educational practice. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 18, 3-12. doi:10.1177/1088868313507536
- Fusch, P. L., & Ness, L.R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. Retrieved from https://www.scirp.org/index.aspx
- Gil, R., & Lampe, R. (2014). The adoption of new technologies: Understanding

 Hollywood's (slow and uneven) conversion to color. *The Journal of Economic History*, 74, 987-1014. doi:10.1017/S0022050714000837
- Go, E., & You, K. H. (2016). But not all social media are the same: Analyzing

- organizations' social media usage patterns. *Telematics and Informatics*, *33*, 176-186. doi:10.1016/j.tele.205.06.016
- Godden, L., Tregunna, L., & Kutsyuruba, B. (2014). Collaborative application of the adaptive mentorship model: The professional and personal growth within a research triad. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, *3*, 125-140. doi:10.1108/IJMCE-09-2013-0054
- Ha-Brookshire, J. (2017). *Global sourcing in the textile and apparel industry*. New York, NY: Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Ham, C.-D., Lee, J., Hayes, J. L., & Bae, Y. H. (2019). Exploring sharing behaviors across social media platforms. *International Journal of Market Research*, 61(2), 157–177. doi:10.1177/1470785318782790
- Hassan, H., Tretiakov, A., & Whiddett, D. (2017). Factors affecting the breadth and depth of e-procurement use in small and medium enterprises. *Journal of Organizational Computing and Electronic Commerce*, 27, 304-324. doi:10.1080/10919392.2017.1363584
- Hauck, J., & Robinson, M. (2018). Of primary importance: Applying the new literacy guidelines. *Reference Services Review*, 46(2), 217-241. doi:10.1108/RSR-03-2018-0025
- Haydon, G., Browne, G., & van der Riet, P. (2017). Narrative inquiry as a research methodology exploring person centered care in nursing. *Collegian: Journal of the Royal College of Nursing Australia*, 24, 411-524. doi:10.1016/j.colegn.2017.03.001

- Hayre, C. M., Blackman, S., Carlton, K., & Eyden, A. (2018). Attitudes and perceptions of radiographers applying lead (Pb) protection in general radiography: An ethnographic study. *Radiography*, *24*, 13-18. doi:10:1016/j.radi.2017.07.010
- He, W., Wang, F.-K., Chen, Y., & Zha, S. (2017). An exploratory investigation of social media adoption by small businesses. *Information Technology and Management*, 18(2), 149-160. doi:10.1007/s10799-015-0243-3
- He, W., Wang, F. K., & Zha, S. (2014). Enhancing social media competitiveness of small businesses: insights from small pizzerias. *New Review of Hypermedia and Multimedia*, 20, 225-250. doi: 10.1080/13614568.2014.889225
- Heale, R., & Forbes, D. (2013). Understanding triangulation in research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 16, 98. doi:10.1136/eb-2013-101494
- Hemingway, S., Clifton, A., Stephenson, J., & Edward, K. L. (2014). Facilitating knowledge of mental health nurses to undertake physical health interventions: A pre-test/post-test evaluation. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22, 383-393. doi:10.1111/jonm.12220
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. M., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health Research*, 27, 591-608. doi:10.1177/1049732316665344
- Hess, T. J., McNab, A. L., & Basoglu, K. A. (2014). Reliability generalization of perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, and behavioral intentions. *MIS Quarterly*, *38*(1), 1-28. doi:10.2307/26554866
- Hornik, R. (2004). Some reflection on diffusion theory and the role of Everett Rogers.

- Journal of Health Communication, 9, 143-148. doi:10.1080/1081070490271610
- Hortaçsu, A., & Syverson, C. (2015). The ongoing evolution of US retail: A format tugof-war. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 29, 89-111. doi: 10.1257/jep.29.4.89
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2016). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20, 12-17. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.12.
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 9, 1-12. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Hyder, S., & Lussier, R. N. (2016). Why businesses succeed or fail: A study on small businesses in Pakistan. *Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economies*, 8, 82. doi:10.1108/JEEE-03-2015-0020
- Ibrahim, N., & Edgley, A. (2015). Embedding researcher's reflexive accounts within the analysis of a semi-structured qualitative interview. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1671. Retrieved from http://tqr.nova.edu/
- Idris, F., Abdullah, M. N., Ahmad, A. R., & Mansor, A. Z. (2016). The effect of religion on ethnic tolerance in Malaysia: The application of rational choice theory (RCT) and the theory of planned behaviour (TPB). *International Education Studies*, *9*, 13-24. doi:10.5539/ies.v9n11p13
- Irwin, S. (2013). Qualitative secondary data analysis: Ethics, epistemology, and context.

 Journal of Progress in Development Studies*, 13, 295–306.

 doi:10.1177/1464993413490479

- Jiang, G., Tadikamalla, P. R., Shang, J., & Zhao, L. (2016). Impacts of knowledge on online brand success: An agent-based model for online market share enhancement. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 248, 1093-1103. doi:10.16/j.ejor.2015.07.051
- Jacobsen, D. M. (1998). Adoption patterns and characteristics of faculty who integrate computer technology for teaching and learning in higher education. (Doctoral dissertation, The University of Calgary, 1998).
- Jwaifell, M., & Gasaymeh, A. (2013). Using the diffusion of innovation theory to explain the degree of English teachers' adoption of interactive whiteboards in the modern systems school in Jordan: A case study. *Contemporary Educational Technology*, 4, 138-149. Retrieved from https://www.cedtech.net/
- Kacker, M., & Perrigot, R. (2016). Retailer use of a professional social media network: Insights from franchising. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 30, 222-233. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2016.01.020
- Kaczynski, D., Salmona, M., & Smith, T. (2014). Qualitative research in finance.

 Australian Journal of Management, 39, 127-135. doi:10.1177/031289621246961
- Kalia, P., Kaur, N., & Singh, T. (2016). An epigrammatic view of e-retailing in India:
 Prospects and retrospects. In P. Shukla & P. Vyas (Eds.), *E-retailing challenges*and opportunities in the global marketplace (pp. 121-131). doi:10.4018/978-1-4666-9921-2
- Karimi, S., & Naghibi, H. S. (2015). Social media marketing (SMM) strategies for small to medium enterprises (SMEs). *International Journal of Information, Business*

- and Management, 74, 86-98. Retrieved from http://ijibm.elitehall.com/index4.htm
- Katz, E., Blumler, J. G., & Gurevitch, M. (1973-1974). Uses and gratifications research. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, *37*, 509-523. doi:10.1086/268109
- Kaur, G. (2016). Social media marketing. *Asian Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies*, 4.

 Retrieved from http://ajms.co.in/sites/ajms2015/index.php/ajms/index
- Khan, M. L. (2017). Social media engagement: What motivates user participation and consumption on YouTube? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 66, 236-247. doi:10.1016/jcb.2016.09.26
- Khan, S. N. (2014). Qualitative research method: Grounded theory. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 9, 224-233. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v9n11p224
- Kim, K. Y., & Lee, B. G. (2015). Marketing insights for mobile advertising and consumer segmentation in the cloud era: AQ–R hybrid methodology and practices. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *91*, 78-92. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2014.01.011
- Kim, S., Koh, Y., Cha, J., & Lee, S. (2015). Effects of social media on firm value for
 U.S. restaurant companies. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 49,
 40-46. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.05.006
- Kohli, C., Suri, R., & Kapoor, A. (2015). Will social media kill branding? *Business Horizons*, 58, 35-44. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2014.08.004
- Krause, A. E., North, A. C., & Heritage, B. (2014). The uses and gratifications of using Facebook music listening applications. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *39*, 71-77. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.07

- Krause, D., Luzzini, D., & Lawson, B. (2018). Building the case for a single key informant in Supply Chain Management Survey Research. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, *54*, 42-50. doi:10.1111/jscm.12159
- Kral, M. J. (2014). The relational motif in participatory qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 20, 144-150. doi:10.1177/107800413510871
- Kuofie, M., Gholston, K., & Hakim, A. C. (2015). An overview of social media for marketing. *International Journal of Global Business*, 8, 65-82. Retrieved from https://www.gsmi-ijgb.com
- Kwayu, S., Lai, B., & Abubakre, M. (2018). Enhancing organizational competitiveness via social media-a strategy as practice perspective. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 20(3), 439-456. doi:10.1007/s10796-017-9816-5
- Lakhani, S., & Kleiner, B. H. (2014). Improving business forecasting. *Industrial Management*, 56, 26-30. Retrieved from https://www.iienet2.org/
- Lamberton, C., & Stephen, A. T. (2016). A thematic exploration of digital, social media, and mobile marketing research's evolution from 2000 to 2015 and an agenda for future research. *Journal of Marketing*, 80, 146-172. doi:10.1509/fjm.15.0415
- Lambrecht, I., Vanlauwe, B., Merckx, R., & Maertens, M. (2014). Understanding the process of agricultural technology adoption: Mineral fertilizer in Eastern DR Congo. *World Development*, *59*, 132-146. doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2014.01.02
- Lamprinakis, L. (2015). Participative organizational change and adaptation: Insights from a qualitative case study of successful change. *Development and Learning in Organizations*, 29, 10–13. doi:10.1108/DLO-03-2014-0015

- Lee, J., Jung, J., Park, P., Chung, S., & Cha, H. (2018). Design of a human-centric deidentification framework for utilizing various clinical research data. *Humancentric Computing and Information Sciences*, 8(1), 1-12. doi:10.1186/s13673-018-0142-9
- Lee, W. S., & Carlson, S. M. (2015). Knowing when to be "rational": Flexible economic decision making and executive function in preschool children. *Child Development*, 86, 1434-1448. doi:10.1111/cdev.12401i
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2014). *Practical research planning and design* (10th ed.).

 Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Levy, S., & Gvili, Y. (2015). How credible is e-word-of-mouth across digital-marketing channels? *Journal of Advertising Research*, 55, 95-109. doi:10.2501/JAR-55-1-095-109
- Lewis, T., L., & Loker, S. (2014). Technology usage intent among apparel retail employees. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 42, 422. doi:10.1108/IJRDM-07-2012-0067
- Lien, A. S. Y., & Jiang, Y. D. (2016). Integration of diffusion of innovation theory into diabetes care. *Journal of Diabetes Investigation*, 8, 259-260. doi:10.1111/jdi.12568
- Lin, H.F. (2014). Understanding the determinants of electronic supply chain management system adoption: Using the technology-organization-environment framework, *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 86, 80-92. doi:10.1016/j.techfore.2013.09.001

- Lips-Wiersma, M., & Mills, A. J. (2014). Understanding the basic assumptions about human nature in workplace spirituality: Beyond the critical versus positive divide.

 *Journal of Management Inquiry, 23, 148-161. doi:10.1177/1056492613501227
- Liu, X., Burns, A. C., & Hou, Y. (2017). An investigation of brand-related user-generated content on Twitter. *Journal of Advertising*, 46, 236-247. doi:10.1080/00913367.2017.1297273
- Liu, W., Sidhu, A., Beacom, A. M., & Valente, T. W. (2017). Social network theory. *The International Encyclopedia of Media Effects*, 1-12.

 doi:10:1002/9781118783764.wbieme0092
- Lunnay, B., Borlagdan, J., McNaughton, D., & Ward, P. (2015). Ethical use of social media to facilitate qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 99-109. doi:10.1177/1049732314549031
- Luo, M. M., & Remus, W. (2014). Uses and gratifications and acceptance of web-based information services: An integrated model. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 38, 281-295. doi:10.1016/j.chb.2014.05.042
- Lynch, H. F., Bierer, B. E., Cohen, I. G., & Rivera, S. M. (2017). *Specimen science:*Ethics and policy implications. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Ma, F. (2015). A review of research methods in EFL education. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 5, 566-571. doi:10.17507/tpls.0503.16
- Ma, L., Sian Lee, C., & Hoe-Lian Goh, D. (2014). Understanding news sharing in social media. *Online Information Review*, 38, 598-615. doi:10.1108/OIR-10-2013-0239
- Maduku, D.K., Mpinganjira, M. and Duh, H. (2016), "Understanding mobile marketing

- adoption intention by South African SMEs: a multi-perspective framework", International Journal of Information Management, 36, 711-723. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2016.04.018
- Mahajan, V., Muller, E., & Bass, F. M. (1991). New product diffusion models in marketing: A review and directions for research. *Diffusion of Technologies and Social Behavior*, *54*, 1-26. doi:10.2307/1252170
- Makrakis, V., & Kostoulos-Makrakis, N. (2016). Bridging qualitative-quantitative divide:

 Experience from conducting a mixed methods evaluation in the RUCAS programme. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *54*, 144-151.

 doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2015.07.008
- Malik, A., Dhir, A., & Nieminen, M. (2016). Uses and gratifications of digital photo sharing on Facebook. *Telematics and Informatics*, *33*, 129-138. doi:10.1016/j.tele.2015.06.009
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? *Review of Computer Information Systems*, *54*, 11-22. doi: 10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- McMillian, J. H., & Schumacher, S. (2014). *Research in education: Evidence-based inquiry*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Ed.
- Medina, J., Jimènez, K., Mora, A., & Ábrego, D. (2014). Training in accounting information systems for users' satisfaction and decision making. *International 95*

- Journal of Business and Social Science, 5, 134-143. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com
- Mehra, A., Kumar, S., & Raju, J. S. (2017). Competitive strategies for brick-and-mortar stores to counter showrooming. *Management Science*, *64*, 3076-3090. doi.10.1287/mnsc.2017.2764
- Mellor, J., Ingram, N., Abrahams, J., & Beedell, P. (2014). Class matters in the interview setting. Positionality, situatedness and class. *British Educational Research Journal*, 40, 135-149. doi:10.1002/berj.3035
- Men, L. R., & Muralidharan, S. (2017). Understanding social media peer communication and organization—public relationships evidence from China and the United States. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 94, 81-101. doi:10.1177/1077699016674187
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. Hobeken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Mol, A.M., Santos Silva, R., Augusto Rocha, A., & Ishitani, L. (2017). Ethnography and Phenomenology applied to game research: A systematic literature review. *Revista de Sistemas e Computacao-RSC*, 7, 110-127. Retrieved from http://www.revistas.unifacs.br/index.php/rsc
- Momany, M., & Alshboul, A. (2016). Social media marketing: Utilizing social media to advance brand awareness and increase online sales. *International Journal of Business, Marketing, & Decision Science*, 9, 33-54. Retrieved from https://searchebscohost.com

- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212-1222.

 doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Muk, A., Chung, C., & Kim, C., (2014). A cross-national study of the influence of individualism and collectivism on liking brand pages. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 26, 122-137. doi:10.1080/08961530.2014878204
- Mustonen-Ollila, E., & Lyytinen, K. (2003). Why organizations adopt information systems process innovations a longitudinal study using diffusion of innovation theory? *Information Systems Journal*, *13*, 275-295. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2575.2003.00141
- Nadeem, M. (2012). Social customer relationship management (SCRM): How connecting social analytics to business analytics enhances customer care and loyalty?

 International Journal of Business and Social Science, 3. Retrieved from https://www.ijbssnet.com/journals**
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.* Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont- report/read-the-Belmont-report/index.html
- Nicholls, D. (2017). Qualitative research. Part 3: Methods. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, 24, 114-121. doi:10.129681/ijtr.2017.24.3.114

- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18, 34-35. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Norton, J. A., & Bass, F. M. (1987). A diffusion theory model of adoption and substitution for successive generations of high-technology products. *Management Science*, *33*, 1069-1086. doi:10.1.1.565.4068
- Nortvig, A., & Christiansen, R. B. (2017). Institutional collaboration on MOOCs in education: A literature review. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 18, 306-316. Retrieved from https://www.eric.ed.gov/
- Novak, A. (2014). Anonymity, confidentiality, privacy, and identity: The ties that bind and break in communication research. *Review of Communication*, *14*, 36-48. doi:10.1080/15358593.2014.942351
- Oliveira, T., & Martins, M. F. (2011). Literature review of information technology adoption models at firm level. *The Electronic Journal Information Systems Evaluation*, *14*, 110-121. Retrieved from http://www.ejise.com
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretations of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research.

 International Journal of Education, 6, 183-246. doi:10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399
- Palmatier, J. J., & Rovner, L. (2015). Rejoinder to commentary on Palmatier and Rovner (2015): Credibility assessment: Preliminary process theory, the polygraph process, and construct validity. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 95, 31-34. doi:10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2014.11.009
- Parker, L. (2014). Qualitative perspectives: Through a methodological lens. *Qualitative*

- Research in Accounting & Management, 11, 13-28. doi:10.1108/QRAM-02-2014-0013
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pauwels, K., Aksehirli, Z., & Lackman, A. (2016). Like the ad or the brand? Marketing stimulates different electronic word-of-mouth content to drive online and offline performance. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 33, 639-655. doi:10.1016/j.ijresmar.2016.01.005
- Pelling, E., & White, K. M. (2009). The theory of planned behaviour applied to young people's use of social networking websites. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, *12*, 755-759. doi:10.1089/cpb.2009.0109i
- Perry, A., & Chung, T. (2016). Understand attitude-behavior gaps and benefit-behavior connections in eco-apparel. *Journal of Fashion Marketing & Management*, 20, 105-119. doi:10.1108/JFMM-12-2014-0095
- Peticca-Harris, A., deGama, N., & Elias, S. R. S. T. A. (2016). A dynamic process models for finding informants and gaining access in qualitative research.

 **Organizational Research Methods, 19, 376-401. doi:10.1177/1094428116629218*
- Przegalinska, A. (2014). The process of exchange from phenomenological perspective.

 *Tamara Journal of Critical Organization Inquiry, 12(3), 5-9. Retrieved from http://www.tamarajournal.com.
- Quinn, K. (2016). Why we share: A uses and gratifications approach to privacy regulation in social media use. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 60,

- 61-86. doi:10.1080/08838151.2015.1127245
- Raacke, J., & Bonds-Raacke, J. (2008). Myspace and Facebook: Applying the uses and gratifications theory to exploring friend-networking sites. *Cyberpsychology & Behavior*, 11, 169-174. doi:10.1089/cpb.2007.0056
- Rahimi, R., & Kozak, M. (2017). Impact of customer relationship management on customer satisfaction: The case of a budget hotel chain. *Journal of Travel & Tourism Marketing*, *34*, 40-51. doi:10.1080/10548408.2015.1130108
- Reilly, R. C. (2013). Found poems, member checking and crises of representation.

 *Qualitative Report, 18(30), 1-18. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Robards, B. (2013). Friending participants: Managing the researcher–participant relationship on social network sites. *Young*, *21*, 217-235. doi:10.1177/1103308813488815
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rogers, E. M. (1962). Diffusion of innovations. New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Rogers, E. M. (1995). Diffusion of innovations. New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Rogers, E. M. (2003). Diffusion of innovations (5th ed.). New York, NY: The Free Press.
- Rossetto, K. R. (2014). Qualitative research interviews: Assessing the therapeutic value and changes. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationship*, *31*, 482-489. doi:10.1177/0265407514522892
- Roy, A., Dionne, C., Maxwell, L., Carson, M., & Sosa, O. (2018, June). Barriers to social

- media and how SMEs can overcome them. In *ECSM 2018 5th European Conference on Social Media* (p. 255). Academic Conferences and publishing limited.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Rugova, B., & Prenaj, B. (2016). Social media as a marketing tool for SMEs:

 Opportunities and challenges. *Academic Journal of Business, Administration,*Law, and Social Science, 2, 85-97. Retrieved from http://iipccl.org
- Safari, A., & Thilenius, P. (2013). Alleviating uncertainty through trust: A narrative approach to consumers' foreign online purchasing behavior. *Journal of Customer Behavior*, 12, 211-226. doi:10.1362/147539213X13832198548418
- Sajid, S. I. (2016). Social media and its role in marketing. *Business and Economics Journal*, 7(1), 1-5. doi:10.4172/2151-6219.1000203
- Saunders, B., Kitzinger, J., & Kitzinger, C. (2014). Participant anonymity in the Internet age: From theory to practice. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 12, 125-137. doi:10.1080/14780887.2014.94869
- Schaupp, L. C., & Bélanger, F. (2014). The value of social media for small businesses. *Journal of Information Systems*, 28, 187-207. doi:10.2308/isys-50674
- Schinke, J., & Crain, S. (2013). Social media from an integrated marketing and compliance perspective. *Journal of Financial Service Professional*, 67, 85-92. Retrieved from http://www.financialpro.org/pubs/inded.cfm
- Scott, S., & McGuire, J. (2017). Using diffusion of innovation theory to promote

- universally designed college instruction. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 29, 119-128. Retrieved from http://www.isetl.org/ijtlhe/
- Shabbir, M. S., Ghazi, M. S., & Mehmood, A. R. (2017). Impact of social media applications on small business entrepreneurs. *Management and Economics Research Journal*, 2(2016), 1-5. doi:10.18639/MERJ2016.02.200914
- Shaver, M. C., & Moore, J. L. (2014). The double-edged sword. Coping and resiliency strategies of African American women enrolled in doctoral programs at predominately White institutions. *Frontiers. A Journal of Women Studies*, *35*, 15-38. doi:10.5250/fronjwomestud.35.3.0015
- Sherer, S. A., Meyerhoefer, C. D., & Peng, L. (2016). Applying institutional theory to the adoption of electronic health records in the U.S. *Information & Management*, *53*, 570-580. doi:10.1016/j.im.2016.01.002
- Siamagka, N. T., Christodoulides, G., Michaelidou, N., & Valvi, A. (2015). Determinants of social media adoption by B2B organizations. *Industrial Marketing*Management, 51, 89-99. Retrieved from http://www.lboro.ac.uk
- Simon M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). *Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success*. Retrieved from http://www.dissertationrecipes.com
- Singh, A. S. (2014). Conducting case study research in non-profit organizations.

 *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 17, 77-84.

 doi:10.1108/QMR-04-2013-0024
- Smith, P. R. (2018). Collecting sufficient evidence when conducting a case study. *The*

- Qualitative Report, 23(5), 1054-1048. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Snelson, C. L. (2016). Qualitative and mixed methods social media research: A review of the literature. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 15(1), 1-15. doi:10.1177/1609406915624574
- Sohn, B. K., Thomas, S. P., Greenberg, K. H., & Pollio, H. R. (2017). Hearing the voices of students and teachers: A phenomenological approach to educational research. *Qualitative Research in Education*, 6, 121-148. doi:10.17583/qre.2017.2374
- Somerfield, K., Mortimer, K., & Evans, G. (2018). The relevance of images in user generated content. A mixed method study of when and why major brands retweet.

 International Journal of Internet Marketing and Advertising. Retrieved from http://nectar.northampton.ac.uk
- Sotiriadou, P., Brouwers, J., & Le, T. (2014). Choosing a qualitative data analysis tool: A comparison of NVivo and Leximancer. *Annals of Leisure Research*, *17*, 218-234. doi:10.1080/11745398.2014.902292
- Stevenson, C. N. (2016). Analyzing qualitative data: Visualizing lived experiences through poems and photography. In C. N. Stevenson (Ed.), *Mixed methods* research for improved scientific study (pp. 123-147). doi:10.4018/978-1-5225-0007-0.ch007
- Storey, M. A., Zagalsky, A., Figueira Filho, F., Singer, L., & German, D. M. (2017).

 How social and communication channels shape and challenge a participatory culture in software development. *IEEE Transactions on Software Engineering*, 43, 185-204. doi:10.1109/TSE.2016.2584053

- Syed, M. A., Naimat, U. K., Faizan, U. R., & Lubna, N. (2019). Relationship between social media marketing and consumer buying behavior. *Peshawar Journal of Psychology and Behavioral Sciences*, 2, 193. doi:10.32879/picp.2018.4.2.193
- Suen, L. J. W., Huang, H. M., & Lee, H. H. (2014). A comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *Hu Li Za Zhi*, 61, 105-111. doi:10.6224/JN61.3.105
- Sundstrom, B. (2016). Mothers, Google it up: Extending communication channel behavior in diffusion of innovations theory. *Health Communication*, *3*, 91-101. doi:10.1080/10410236.2014.936339
- Talukder, M., Quazi, A., & Djatikusumol, D. (2018). Social media and SMEs: A study of drivers of adoption of innovation in organizational setting. *Journal of Electronic Commerce in Organizations (JECO)*, 16(2), 1-28. doi:10.4018/JECO.201804010
- Taneja, S., & Toombs, L. (2014). Putting a face on small businesses: Visibility, viability, and sustainability the impact of social media on small business marketing.

 **Academy of Marketing Studies Journal, 18, 249-260. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/library/p64387/academy-of-marketing-studies-journal
- Taylor, S., & Land, C. (2014). Organizational anonymity and negotiation of research access. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, *9*, 88-109. doi:10.1108/QROM-10-2012-1104
- Terwee, C. B., Mokkink, L. B., Hidding, L. M., Altenburg, T. M., van Poppel, M. N., & Chinapaw, M. J. M. (2016). Comment on should we reframe how we think about physical activity and sedentary behavior measurement? Validity and reliability

- reconsidered. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 13(1), 1-14. doi:10.1186/s12966-016-0392-8
- Thambiah, S., Eze, U. C., Santhapparaj, A. J., & Arumugam, K. (2011). Customers' perception on Islamic retail banking: A comparative analysis between the urban and rural regions of Malaysia. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6, 187-198. Retrieved from https://www.ccsenet.org/ijbm
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*, 151-155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Tong, A., Winkelmayer, W. C., & Craig, J. C. (2014). Qualitative research in CKD: An overview of methods and applications. *American Journal of Kidney Diseases*, 64, 338-346. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2014.02.026
- Tonkin-Crine, S., Anthierens, S., Hood, K., Yardley, L., Cals, J. W., Francis, N. A., & Butler, C. C. (2016). Discrepancies between the qualitative and quantitative evaluation of randomized controlled trial results: Achieving clarity through mixed methods triangulation. *Implementation Science*, 11(66), 1-8. doi:10.1186/s13012-016-0436-0
- Tornatzky, L. G., Fleischer, M., & Chakrabarti, A. K. (1990). *Processes of technological innovation*. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books.
- Treloar, A., Stone, T. E., McMillan, M., & Flakus, K. (2015). A narrative in search of a methodology. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 51, 202-210.doi:10.1111/ppc.12081

- Turner, S. F., Cardinal, L. B., & Burton, R. M. (2017). Research design for mixed methods: A triangulation-based framework and roadmap. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20, 243-267. doi:10.1177/1094428115610808
- U. S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979). *Belmont Report*. Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- U. S. Small Business Administration. (2014). What is SBA's definition of a small business concern? Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov
- U.S. Small Business Administration. (2015). Small business size standards. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov
- U. S. Small Business Administration. (2016). 2016 Small business profile. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov
- U. S. Small Business Administration. (2016). Small business trends. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov
- U. S. Small Business Administration. (2018). Frequently asked questions. Retrieved from https://www.sba.gov/sites/default/files/FAQ_March_2014_0.pdf
- Vajjhala, N. R., & Ramollari, E. (2016). Big data using cloud computing-opportunities for small and medium-sized enterprises. *European Journal of Economics and Business Studies*, *4*, 129-137. doi.org/10.26417/ejes.v4i1.p129-137
- Vohra, V. (2014). Using the multiple case study design to decipher contextual leadership behaviors in Indian organizations. *Electronic Journal of Business Research*Methods, 12, 54-65. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases,

- methods, and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting*Research, 10, 69-80. Retrieved from https://maaw.info/JAMAR.htm
- Webb, S. H., & Roberts, S. J. (2016). Communication and social media approaches in small businesses. *Journal of Marketing Development and Competitiveness*, 10, 66-79. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/
- Weber, P., Geneste, L.C., & Connell, J. (2015). Small business growth: Strategic goals and owner preparedness. *Journal of Business Strategy*, *36*, 30-36. doi:10.1108/JBS-03-2014-0036
- Wilcox, G. B., & Moore, M. (2016). The impact of social media on return on investment:

 Registration and revenue. *Journal of Digital & Social Media Marketing*, *3*, 363
 371. Retrieved from http://www.Ingentaconnect.com
- Woods, M., Paulus, T., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2016). Advancing qualitative research using qualitative data analysis software (QDAS)? Reviewing potential versus practice in published studies using ATLAS. ti and NVivo, 1994–2013.

 Social Science Computer Review, 34, 597-617. doi:10.1177/0894439315596311
- Yahaya, S., Hamid, I. A., Idris, A. F. B., & Haji-Othman, Y. (2016). Adoption of Islamic banking products and services in Nigeria: An application of diffusion of innovation theory. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Science and Technology*, 2, 264-273. Retrieved from http://www.ijsrst.com
- Yap, M. H., & Nan, C. (2017). Understanding young Chinese wine consumers through innovation diffusion theory. *Tourism and Hospitability Management*, 23, 51-68. doi:10.20867.thm.23.1.3

- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education: Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *Qualitative Report*, 20, 134-152. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu
- Yin, R. K. (2012). *Applications of case study research* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2018a). *Case study research: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2018b). *Qualitative research from start to finish* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Guilford Publications.
- Zamawe, F. C. (2015). The implication of using NVivo software in qualitative data analysis: Evidence-based reflections. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 27, 13-15. doi:10.4314/mmj.v27il.4
- Zainal, Z. (2007). Case study as a research method. *Journal Kemanusiaan*, 5(1). 1-6.

 Retrieved from https://jurnalkemanusiaan.utm.my/index.php/kemanusiaan/index
- Zhang, X., Yu, P., Yan, J., & Spil, I. T. A. (2015). Using diffusion of innovation to understand the factors impacting patient acceptance and use of consumer e-health innovations: A case study in a primary care clinic. *BMC Health Services**Research*, 15. doi:10.1186/s12913-015-0726-2
- Zhao, P., Li, P., Ross, K., & Dennis, B. (2016, April). Methodological tool or methodology? Beyond instrumentality and efficiency with qualitative data analysis software. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 17(2), 1-21. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-

research.net/index.php/fqs/index

Zheng, R. S., Guo, Q. H., Dong, F. Q., & Owens, R. G. (2015). Chinese oncology nurses' experience on caring for dying patients who are on their final days: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *52*, 288-296. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.09

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study is to explore the SMM strategies that some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales. The target population includes at least three small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry in South Carolina who have successfully used SMM strategies to generate growth in sales for 5 years. Small businesses could use the results of this study to learn how to increase return on investment for the business owners, which could increase the local community's tax base to improve social programs. In addition, positive social change can result from increased employment to stimulate local economies from growth in sales.

Interviewee:	Location:
Date:	Time:

- Step 1. Introduce myself to the participant
- Step 2. Give a brief overview of the study, and open dialogue with the participant
- Step 3. Discuss and review Consent Form Content/Get participant consent and signature prior to the interview. Verify participant's consent form.
- Step 4. Answer any questions or concern of the participant
- Step 5. Discuss confidentiality and privacy of the Interview
- Step 6. Reestablished with the participant that the interview will be recorded. Start the recording of the interview noting date and time
- Step 7. Introduce each participant with coded Identification (P1), (P2), and (P3)
- Step 8. Start the interview with Question 1 proceed to final question

- Step 9. Allow for follow-up of questions, if desired.
- Step 10. End interview questions and stop the recording
- Step 11. Thank the participant for his or her participation in the study and send a thank you card after each interview
- Step 12. Ask for contact information and number for follow-up questions and member checking interview.
- Step 13. End protocol

Appendix B: Interview Questions

The following interview questions will explore what SMM strategies do some small business owners in the women's retail apparel industry use to generate growth in sales?

- 1. What led you to start using social media?
- 2. How did you customize your SMM strategies to generate growth in sales?
- 3. How does SMM fit into your marketing mix?
- 4. What other SM M strategic processes and tools do you use to generate growth in sales?
- 5. How did you use social media contribute to improve your SMM strategies?
- 6. What trends do you see in the role of SMM in your business shopping experience?
- 7. How do customers make purchases from your business, for instance, do they approach your products from an online platform, or do they come into the store?
- 8. How have alternative shopping behaviors impacted your storefront success?
- 9. What sets your business apart from other women's apparel businesses both locally and strictly online shopping experience?
- 10. How do you strategize and gain customers' loyalty?
- 11. What additional information would you like to share regarding your successful SMM strategies that I did not ask?